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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Industry characteristics

Alstom, leading the way to greener and smarter mobility, worldwide

At Alstom, we partner with our stakeholders to optimise transport networks by understanding what moves people, listening to their needs and
aspirations. We strive to lead the way to smarter and more sustainable mobility, tech-driven innovation is in our DNA. We stay true to our core values
as an agile, inclusive, and responsible company. We are proud to work together to reinvent mobility and make transport easier and more intuitive.

Alstom offers a complete range of equipment and services, from high-speed trains, metros, trams and e-buses to integrated systems, customised

services, infrastructure, signalling and digital mobility solutions.

Our Alstom in Motion strategy, unveiled in June 2019, is based on the following pillars: growth by offering greater value to our customers;
innovation in smarter and greener mobility solutions; Efficiency, powered by digital; One Alstom Team: an agile, inclusive and responsible culture.

® INDUSTRY CHARACTERISTICS

MARKET DRIVERS

The rail transportation market is supported by solid long-term drivers.
Soaring urbanisation, economic growth and public & private investment in
infrastructure create a growing demand for transport notably in emerging
countries. Mature markets, on the other hand, are mainly supported by
projects aiming at updating and modernising existing infrastructure and
rolling stock enhanced by growing environmental concerns.

Urbanisation

The combination of both economic and demographic growth entices a
growing number of people to live in cities. By 2050, world population
should exceed 9.7 billion inhabitants @ of which nearly 70% will reside
in urban areas @. This trend towards urbanisation is particularly strong
in China, India and in many countries of Africa and Latin America.

This development triggers the growing saturation of airports, roads and
existing railways and the need for new infrastructure. In this situation,
railways typically offer a mass transit solution, safe, reliable and clean.

Additionally, in many cities, the population is encouraged to leave behind
individual methods of transportation and favour collective transportation
to limit traffic congestion. This change is usually supported by the active
promotion of public transportation.

People responsible for urban planning and development are looking for
efficient, green, inclusive and intermodal urban transportation systems .

In this context also, rail transportation offers ideal mobility solutions in
term of capacity, punctuality, security, and reduction of noise, pollution
and energy consumption.

(1) UN World population prospects - 2019.
(2) UN World urbanization prospects — the 2018 revision.

Sustainable development

Today more than 90% of the world population lives in areas where air
pollution exceeds the threshold recommended by the World Health
Organisation “ while CO, emissions from transport continue to grow.
From an international standpoint, transport is now clearly recognised
overall as a sector which contributes significantly to worldwide emissions
whilst offering a great potential to curb them. The increased visibility of
climate change consequences and the threat that air pollution poses on
public health drives the actions of governments and regulation bodies to
limit the magnitude of impacts by reducing greenhouse gas and airborne
emissions. For instance:

The European Green Deal, unveiled in December 2019, requires action
by all sectors of our economy to reach climate neutrality in 2050.
Transportation, which represents approximately 25% of greenhouse
gas emissions from energy combustion, is expected to decrease by
90% its emissions by 2050 to reach this target.

Lead pioneer countries and cities announced or strongly consider
future bans on cars running on combustion engines (Norway, France,
United Kingdom, Netherlands, India...).

Rail transportation offers higher performance levels than other
transportation modes, which should have a positive impact on the
evolution of the rail transportation market. Indeed, rail represents 8% of
worldwide motorised transports but only 2% of the energy consumption
and 4% of CO, emissions (source: The UIC-IEA, Railway Handbook
2017 Energy consumption and CO, emissions). Concerning passenger
transport, the main focus of Alstom products, the CO, emissions is much
lower than other modes as shown by the graph thereafter.

(3) Intermodal transportation corresponds to the use of several methods of transportation over the course of a single trip.
(4) World Health Organisation, Ambient Air Pollution: A Global Assessment of Exposure and Burden of Disease, September 2016.
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Industry characteristics

Rail is clearly positioned today among motorised transport emitting
the lowest carbon emissions by transported passenger. More generally
electrical and shared mobility solutions have the highest potential to
decarbonize mobility. The environmental efficiency of rail has been
recognized by multiple government recent schemes favoring the modal
shift to rail (cf. Governmental funding paragraph). This efficiency is
also recognized by some environmentally conscious travellers which
are unease about flying (“flygskam”) and who are choosing rail instead.

Economic growth

Economic growth is a driver of Alstom’s business as the volume of
passenger and good transportation, the purchasing power of passengers,
and governmental funding for rail are in some measure linked to Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) expansion. On the years following 2008, the
global economy has experienced turbulence that has slowed down growth
and increased public deficits.

However, the passenger rail transport industry has not significantly
been affected by the latest economic downturn. Over past years, both
urban and mainline worldwide passenger traffic have grown steadily
at respectively 5% and 3.6% average growth between 2008 and 2018.

Freight traffic is more volatile and impacted by economic environment.

It decreased by 2.6% in 2016 notably, followed by an increase by 6.9%
in 2017 and 3.7% in 2018.

Average
Growth growth
Vs 2017 (2008-2018)
+2.5% +5.0%
+0.3% +3.6%
| |
| |
| |
I I
I I
I I
| |
I I
- +3,7% +0.7%
o= -
S< - - - - -
o o o o
2015 2016 2017 2018

Source: Eurostat, governmental statistics websites, annual reports from major operators.
(*) Urban traffic figures are for Top 30 cities worldwide; mainline and freight traffic figures are for all major national operators worldwide.

The worldwide real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) grew at an estimated
3.6% in 2018 and 2.9% in 2019 according to International Monetary
Fund @ (IMF). Due to Covid-19 pandemic, outlook is uncertain in 2020:
IMF forecast © a worldwide recession of -3% followed by a recovery at
+5.8% GDP expansion in 2021. Though, on May 2020, uncertainties
about recession in-depth and pace of recovery prevailed.

Governmental funding

Until beginning of 2020, governments in mature and emerging countries

aim to develop the economy of their country through investment in

infrastructure and efficient, sustainable transport solution. In that

regards, the railway industry remains strategic, with major investment

plans throughout the world both in mainline and urban segments:

® In the United-Kingdom, Network Rail has announced that up to
£3.6 billion will be invested in railway signalling over the next five years

(1) IMF - Worldwide economic outlook, April 2020.

to improve the reliability of systems on Britain’s railways, potentially
enabling more trains to run. The British Government confirmed on
11 February 2020 that High speed two project will go ahead. The
city centres of London, Birmingham, Manchester, and Leeds will be
connected by 345 miles of new high-speed railway track.

In Germany, an €86 billion investment plan has been announced
and is meant for infrastructure and trackside equipment upgrade
and replacement.

In Italy, Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane announced a €11.5 billion plan
to upgrade to ERTMS all the Italian network within 2035. On the
top of that they will spend €2.2 billion to acquire 239 trains between
2019 and 2023.

In France, the Loi d’orientation des mobilités is planning to invest
around €10 billion in railway infrastructure by 2022. Besides, 200 km
of new metro lines and 68 metro stations will be opened by 2030 for
a global investment of €35 billion for Grand Paris.
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Industry characteristics

In India, on the top of 13 cities which already have a metro
system, over 20 additional cities have plans under various stages
of implementation for a metro or light rail system - notably Pune,
Kanpur, Agra, Indore, Bhopal. It would more than double the urban
transportation network over the next decade.

In the Republic of Céte d’Ivoire, the route of the future Line 1 of the
Abidjan metro network has been confirmed on December 2019. It is
37 kilometres long and the cost of construction work for the metro
is €1.36 billion. Finalization of the project financing from the French
Development Agency and the French Treasury is on-going.

In the United States, some states have been passing local sales tax
measures to fund transit. For example, Los Angeles County, CA, voted
in 2016 to use $120 billion from sales tax over 40 years to fund major
transit projects before the Summer Olympic Games in 2028.

From beginning of 2020 onward, two events are creating uncertainties
and might affect government funding. First, oil prices, which were already
down by half on May since the beginning of 2020 and is expected to
create turmoil for oil-exporting countries. This could affect countries
revenue in the Africa/Middle East/Central Asia (AMECA) zone.

For other geographies, if we cannot exclude postponement of government
programs in order to prioritize the response to the Covid-19 crisis,
there are signs that investments in railway infrastructure will be at
least maintained, if not expanded, as a way to back the economy and
support transition towards sustainable transport systems amidst growing
environmental concern. For instance, the British Government confirmed
on April 2020 that the construction of phase one of £107 billion High
Speed 2 rail link can begin despite Covid-19 lockdown. Additionally, some
governments brought strong support during the pandemic to private
operators which faced strong financial impact. For instance:

MARKET PERSPECTIVE

Market evolution

® British government suspended all franchises payment from private
operators for 6 months;

* Amtrak received $1 billion in federal relief funds to stay afloat amid
the crisis. The Cares Act, which President Trump signed into law on
27 March, also provides $25 billion for public transit.

Digital Transformation

Due to the wide usage of smartphones and to the digital transformation
of the society, passengers are more and more connected. Communicating
has never been so obvious and easy. New needs are expressed:
connectivity, well-being, real-time information, door-to-door solutions,
individual mobility optimisation, punctuality, comfort and on the top
safety and security reassurance. People wish to use their travel time
to play, buy, network and work in a way to ease their day-to-day life.

The digital transformation causes significant changes in the
transportation landscape, not only for passengers, but also for operators.
New technologies will lead to shifting operators’ needs and to the
implementation of new business models and new way of workings.
Two examples: real-time data collection and transmission can be
used on trains condition as a lever to improve fleet and infrastructure
maintenance services through smart sensors, connected trains and the
deployment of the internet of things. Beyond contactless payment thanks
to smartphones, seamless intermodality keeps on growing in importance.
Offerings of Mobility as a Service (Maa$S) are developing using rail as
backbone of multimodal routes for fast, punctual and energy-efficient
journeys. This momentum will sustainably impact the rail industry and
public transport, as a pillar of Smart Cities development, for which
multimodality management is a cornerstone.

According to UNIFE, the annual accessible worldwide market for the 2018-2020 period is estimated at €114 billion. This market should grow to
reach an annual average of €125 billion over the 2021-2023 period, which corresponds to compound annual growth rate of +3% since 2018-2020

(source: UNIFE Market Study 2018).

This study which was released in 2018 does not take into account the recent announced investments in rail linked to environmental concerns nor the

effects of Covid-19 pandemic (see thereafter).

MARKET PER REGION AND PRODUCT @
In€Bn

CAGR®
+3.0% 125

AFRICA/MIDDLE EAST/CENTRAL ASIA

ASIA/PACIFIC

EUROPE (incl France and North CIS)

NORTH AMERICA

2018-2020 2021-2023

(1) Annual average - Accessible market.
(2) CAGR: Compound Annual Growth Rate. Source: UNIFE Market Study 2018.
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Impact of Covid-19 on forecasted market
expansion

Early 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic caused passenger ridership
to decrease sharply worldwide and led most operators to adjust
consequently their operations. It is also expected to trigger a significant
economic fallout, reflecting shocks to supply and demand different from
past crises. On May 2020, the magnitude of this economic downturn
was still difficult to assess since the confinement was still ongoing
in some parts of the world and uncertainties prevailed with regards
to the duration of sanitary measures and the effective impact on the
different sectors of activity. According to the most recent economic
forecasts at the time of publication of this document, Europe and the
United States GDP were expected to decrease by respectively -7.5% and
-5.9% (source: International Monetary Fund, April 2020). Our customers
drop in revenue in 2020 and economic crisis could impact the previous
UNIFE study disclosed above.

©® INFORMATION ON TRENDS

In 2019/20, Alstom has fully deployed its Alstom in Motion (AiM)
strategic plan in order to progressively deliver revenues and margin
growth in line with the objectives set in the context of AiM for 2022/23.

However, the Covid-19 crisis is likely to affect negatively the financial
performance of the fiscal year 2020/21, including net income, Free
Cash Flow and sales, though it is not possible today to assess precisely
its impact.

While a partial restart of production is on-going as of May 12, the Group
cannot predict the shape and timing of a recovery during 2020/21 as it
depends on the further development of the Covid-19 crisis, the duration
of containment measures and the intensity of the economic downturn
and market response. After the current crisis, the Group expects a fast

® COMPETITIVE POSITION

Alstom offers a wide range of railway products, services and solutions
that are produced and sold worldwide leveraging the Company’s extensive
experience and its global commercial and industrial geographic market
coverage. Alstom is among the leaders in all the major segments of the
railway industry: urban and mainline transportation, signalling, services
and integrated solutions.

Alstom has various competitors in the railway industry acting globally
or locally and covering part of, or the entire portfolio. Among which
Bombardier Transportation offers range of products and services
comparable to Alstom and is also present on an international scale. Alstom
announced on 17 February 2020 that it has signed a Memorandum of
Understanding in view of the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation.

Siemens is another competitor in the rail transportation market, focusing
its expansion on automation and signalling. Furthermore, Hitachi affirms
itself as a global actor following the acquisition of Ansaldo Breda in 2015
and completion of acquisition of Ansaldo STS at the beginning of 2019.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Competitive position

On the other hand, plans to support operators have already been
announced. Additionally, to date, investments into railway are needed
to expand network capacity and fight against congestion in crowded city.
Before Covid-19 pandemic expansion, passenger ridership was steadily
growing both in Urban and Mainline. Polish state-run railway network
manager announced that railway investments is to continue despite
Covid-19 pandemic. On April 2020, the British Government confirmed
on its side that the construction of phase one of High Speed 2 rail link
can begin. Last, Covid-19 could be a long-term catalyst for environmental
concern. Due to the economic crisis, public investments will also be
needed to stimulate economy: in such a context, rail could be seen as
an attractive environmental and economic stimuli play.

recovery of the rail market, sustained by strong fundamentals and the
increasing demand for sustainable mobility.

In this context, the objective of a 5% average annual growth rate over the
period 2019/20-2022/23 should be slightly impacted by the temporary
slowdown of tender activity, yet the 2022/23 objectives of 9% aEBIT
margin and of a conversion from net income to Free Cash Flow above
80% are confirmed.

With a strong liquidity position, a demonstrated ability to deliver
execution and profitability and the rapid launch of a cost and cash
mitigation plan, the Group is confident in its capacity to weather the
crisis as well as to capture opportunities in a resilient rail market and
contribute to the transition towards sustainable transport systems.

The Chinese train manufacturer CRRC benefits from the development
of its domestic market. The company has also expressed important
international ambitions. In 2019, CRRC signed an agreement to acquire
Vossloh Locomotives.

Some manufacturers with a less diversified portfolio of products and
industrial sites that are more geographically concentrated (CAF, Pesa,
Rotem, Skoda, Stadler, Talgo, Thales, etc.) compete with Alstom in
specific market segments, such as trains or signalling. Stadler issued
an Initial Public Offering in 2019.

Alstom considers to be ranked first in the accessible market of passenger
rail industry in Americas and in Europe and among the top three in
Asia-Pacific and Middle-East-Africa (based on orders intake during the
last three years and UNIFE, accessible market).
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Our value creation model

® OUR VALUE CREATION MODEL

3
OUR RESOURCES

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
” - €40.9bn order backlog
(1] B Equity of €3.3bn

- Baaz rating

INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL

‘ - 105 sites in 60 countries

- Industrial CAPEX: €195m

. INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
9 - 7,300 patents
- More than 8,000 engineers
- 90.2% of trained employees 1 60/0
AMERICAS
NATURAL CAPITAL
- 36% of electricy 5 60/0
©  of renewable origin z b
& - 88% waste recovery :€ 8. n EUROPE
- 28% recycled
material in metro 1 70/0
AMECA
HUMAN CAPITAL
[ 3
o®e 38,900 employees 0
A from 137 nationalities 11 )
- Top employer Europe 2020 AS|A/PAC| FIC
BRAND CAPITAL

- > 280 cities, operators

@ and authorities of
transport clients
- New brand identity
“mobility by nature”

SOCIETAL CAPITAL
- 15037001 antibribery
certification
‘ - 85% of spent with high-
risk suppliers assessed
according to CSR

and E&C standards
- €1.5m foundation budget
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Our value creation model

VALUE CREATED
FOR STAKEHOLDERS

EMPLOYEES

- Injury Frequency Rate at 1
oo  €2.7bnemployee
A benefit expense
- 8,051 employees
subscribed to WE
SHARE ALSTOM

CUSTOMERS
- Customer

satisfaction at 8.2

- Energy consumption
of solutions reduced
by 20% vs 2014

\« PASSENGERS

(]

E‘—/ - +40 million people
daily transported
by Alstom trains

ENVIRONMENT

- 5.5g €0, / pass.km
& - 25% eco-designed solution
- Energy consumption
of operations reduced
by 16% vs 2014

SUPPLIERS

- 60% of Alstom products
Q costs purchased
- Founding member
of “Railsponsible”

SOCIETY
m - Tax rate: 25% net income
- 129,000 beneficiaries

of community initiatives

SHAREHOLDERS

ﬁ[ - Net income

(group share): €467m
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Strategy

10

® STRATEGY

Alstom in Motion (AiM) strategic plan has been unveiled in June 2019 and set a clear ambition: be the leading global innovative player for a sustainable

and smart mobility.

The Alstom in Motion strategy is based on four pillars.

GROWTH BY OFFERING GREATER VALUE TO OUR CUSTOMERS

Alstom has strong market shares in all of its activities and geographies.

The Group ambitions to consolidate its positioning in each:

© by becoming the undisputed leader in services, leveraging its installed
base and worldwide presence, and by relying on its technical expertise
and innovative solutions;

© in Signalling, by gaining market and product leadership thanks to
the digitalisation of its solution and by being a key player in the
development of international standards;

® by expanding its leadership in Rolling Stock and Systems thanks to
the geographical expansion of our new product platforms and by
enhancing their competitiveness.

Alstom aims at becoming number one or two in each its markets:
geographies and activities. Services and Signalling should represent
40% of 2022/23 sales compared to 35% in 2018/19.

INNOVATION IN SMARTER AND GREENER MOBILITY SOLUTIONS

Green and smart mobility, encouraged by customers’ and passengers’
expectations, is leading to a transformation of the market. Already
recognized as an industrial reference in this domain, with for example
the first hydrogen train and products like Hesop which recovers the
energy generated by trains in braking mode, Alstom has set six priority

EFFICIENCY, POWERED BY DIGITAL

The Group will capitalize on its worldwide presence and its industrial
and engineering capacities in emerging markets, as well as on the
gain in competitiveness of its new generation of products and services.

areas to confirm its leadership. Alstom will rely on sustained R&D
investments. Innovation is also at the heart of Alstom’s entrepreneurial
culture with for example already more than 7,300 patents issued and
multiple key partnerships.

Alstom’s ambition is to lead in green and smart solutions.

The Group will also implement additional levers, in particular the digital
transformation of all its value chain, optimising sites and projects.

ONE ALSTOM TEAM: AN AGILE, INCLUSIVE AND RESPONSIBLE CULTURE

In order to support the railway sector transformation, Alstom will pursue
its environmental and social responsibility commitments at a mid-term
horizon. Among the objectives targeted for 2025, energy consumption
of solutions offered to its clients should be reduced by 25% compared to
2014. 100% of the group electricity supply should come from renewables.

UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2019/20 — ALSTOM

100% of its suppliers should be monitored or assessed on CSR and E&C
standards. Alstom employees share together the same culture, with
strong local actions and ethical commitment. Following a consultation
of all its employees, Alstom will change its brand signature, to become
“ mobility by nature ” in order to reaffirm its leadership in mobility.



DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of Bombardier Transportation

® ACQUISITION OF BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION

Alstom announced on 17 February 2020 that it has signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Bombardier Inc. and Caisse de dép6t et placement
du Québec (“CDPQ”) in view of the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation.

A UNIQUE OPPORTUNITY TO ACCELERATE ALSTOM’S STRATEGIC ROADMAP, ALSTOM

IN MOTION

The acquisition of Bombardier Transportation is a one-time opportunity
coming at the right moment for Alstom, having significantly strengthened
its operational and financial profile over the past four years to accelerate
its strategic roadmap, and adding to Alstom complementary commercial
and industrial platforms. Bombardier Transportation will notably bring
to Alstom:

complementary geographical presence in key growing markets
leveraging on Bombardier’s successful historical track record in
Germany, United-Kingdom, North America and its unique presence
in China;

PRICE STRUCTURE AND FINANCING

The price for the acquisition of 100% of Bombardier Transportation
shares will be €5.8 billion to €6.2 billion subject to Transportation’s
accounts and adjustment mechanisms at closing. In addition, Bombardier
Transportation’s net cash position at closing will be retained by Alstom
and, should Bombardier Transportation have a negative net cash position
as of 31 December 2020, the purchase price will be decreased on a
Euro-per-Euro basis.

Alstom has in place a fully committed financing structured with the
objective of maintaining Alstom’s strong credit profile and commitment
to its Baa2 rating. The consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the
Bombardier Transportation shares will be a mix of cash and new Alstom
shares. The total equity component of the financing will represent
approximately €5 billion, of which €2 billion will be raised on the market.

€2.6-2.8 billion equity to be provided by CDPQ through a reserved
capital increase at closing, for a fixed subscription price of €44.45 per
Alstom share. CDPQ is to reinvest 100% of the transaction proceeds
(€1.93-2.08 billion®) in Alstom and add new money for €0.7 billion;

€0.5 billion equity to be provided by Bombardier Inc. through a
reserved capital increase at closing, for a fixed subscription price of
€47.50 per Alstom share®;

(1) based on final transaction price to be determined at closing.

attractive rolling stock additions to Alstom’s portfolio notably with
selective niches such as Monorail, People Mover and bringing strong
expertise recognition through the development of local specific
solutions to blue-chip clients;

significant assets for Alstom services business with access to the
largest installed train fleet worldwide and a wide maintenance
facilities network;

complementary and strategic new geographies in signaling;
complete innovation portfolio and significant engineering and R&D
resources to lead smart and green mobility innovations;

best cost industrial footprint including in Eastern Europe, Mexico and
China and complementary footprint in mature markets e.g. Germany
& the United-Kingdom.

€2.4 billion bridge facility, successfully syndicated and executed
in April 2020, to be refinanced through:

= an equity portion expected to represent up to €2 billion to be raised
through a rights issue subject to market conditions,

= new debt issuance of c.€0.4 billion;

the balance to be paid with Alstom existing cash on the balance sheet
including Bombardier Transportation net cash at closing.

Alstom will reinforce its liquidity profile through a new €1.5 billion
Revolving Credit Facility replacing Alstom’s and Bombardier
Transportation’s existing revolving credit facilities. The new facility will
have a five-year tenor with two one-year extension options.

Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, CDPQ (which currently owns
32.5% of the Bombardier Transportation shares), will become the largest
shareholder of Alstom owning approximately 18% of its shares. Bouygues
will remain a large shareholder of Alstom owning around 10% of its
shares. Bouygues is fully supportive of the transaction and undertook to
vote in favour of the transaction-related resolutions at the extraordinary
general meeting (EGM).

(2) resulting in a c.3% shareholding post equity raising, three months lock-up undertaking from closing.
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INDICATIVE TIMETABLE AND NEXT STEPS

Alstom’s unions indicated they will render their opinion around summer
2020 on the proposed takeover of Bombardier Transportation, according
to the “method agreement” reached with management. An EGM vote
on the reserved capital increases to CDPQ and Bombardier Inc. and
the rights issue should take place no later than 31 October 2020.
Subject to the EGM approval, rights issue will take place between the
second semester 2020 and first semester 2021 and the reserved capital

© INDUSTRIAL FOOTPRINT

Alstom designs solutions that are very diverse and adapted to the cities,
regions and countries they serve. Its organisational structure covers
the entire world and relies on a network of offices, engineering centres
and manufacturing sites, warehouses and maintenance centres, which
guarantees the smooth and uninterrupted supply of these various
solutions.

MAIN WORLDWIDE LOCATIONS
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During the fiscal year 2019/20, Alstom has been enlarging its regional
footprint, for instance with the inauguration of its Alstom Ubunye factory
in South Africa in October 2019. A significant investment has been made
in upskilling employees and installing state-of-the-art equipment such as
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increases will take place at closing. The syndication of €2.4 billion Bridge
Facilities and a new €1.5 billion Revolving Credit Facility related to the
proposed acquisition of Bombardier was completed in April 2020 as
planned. The transaction will also be subject to clearance from relevant
regulatory authorities and anti-trust authorities. Closing is expected in
the first half of 2021.

Thanks to its global network and its strong local presence worldwide,
Alstom is able to competitively meet the demand of its customers
throughout the world, while working in increasingly demanding local
environments. Its commercial and industrial proximity allows for the
precise monitoring of changes in customer needs and the ability to
respond quickly.

O ROLLING STOCK AND COMPONENTS
A SIGNALLNG

@ SERVICES

@ SYSTEMS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

advanced robot technology. Through the modernisation of Alstom Ubunye,
Alstom has established an African rail company with local partners,
creating a stronger industrial and commercial base and preparing to
serve the increasing demand for rail innovation in Africa.
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The fiscal year 2019/20 shows also an acceleration of our activity in India with an increase of headcount in Engineering, Signalling and Rolling Stock

activities in this country.

At 31 March 2020

Africa/Middle East/
Central Asia

Asia/Pacific

Europe Americas Total

2019/20 4,600

6,800 22,500 5,000

38,900

This enlarging of footprint is reflected by the recruitment of 2,600 employees in the main geographies. \We are now a 38,300 people company in
over 105 sites and 60 countries (to be compared with 36,300 in fiscal year 2018/19). We have completed our implantation with main hubs in all
regions. To better illustrate the vast footprint and countries diversity in the region, on 31 March, MEA region became AMECA: A for Africa, ME for

Middle East, CA for Central Asia.

©® OFFERING

With respect to the transportation of passengers by rail throughout the
world, Alstom’s range of products covers all market segments, from bus
to very high-speed trains and offers its customers tailor-made solutions,

ROLLING STOCK

Road

Aptis™ is the latest electric 12-meter long bus designed from scratch, to
improve the limitations of standard buses concerning interior mobility,
ease of boarding and accessibility, insertion in city centers and lifetime
duration, thus setting a new standard in urban e-mobility.

Alstom received during 2019 firm orders for 85 Aptis™ ebuses from the
cities of Paris, Strasbourg, Grenoble, Toulon and La Rochelle. In 2020,
it has received its first order outside of France for the city of Aranjuez
(Madrid, Spain).

Trams & Light Rail Vehicles

Alstom’s Citadis™ range sets the standard in the market, with a 20-year
track record and more than 2,300 vehicles in service in over 50 cities
around the world.

Citadis X05™ is the latest evolution of the family. The modularity of the
Citadis™ range allows Alstom to offer customers an array of different
configurations. Four Citadis™ tram projects entered into revenue service
in 2019, in Sydney, Australia, as well as in France (Nice L2, Caen &
Avignon). Further Citadis™ tram contracts were signed this year in
France.

Operating costs are low, reduced by 11% compared with previous
versions thanks to improved energy efficiency and minimal maintenance
requirements. Citadis X05™ also features a number of new on-board
autonomy management solutions, such as Citadis™ Ecopack, as part
of Alstom’s catenary-free solutions.

Tramway & light rail development has also rekindled interest in tram-
trains, an alternative method of transport. Once on the rail network,
Citadis™ Dualis™ becomes a regional train, transporting passengers at
speeds of up to 100 km/h.

based on standardised platforms. Alstom portfolio includes rolling stock,
signaling solutions, integrated systems (including infrastructure) and
services.

Alstom also launched Citadis Spirit™ to meet demand for mobility
and flexibility solutions in a number of fast-growing North American
cities. Citadis Spirit™ that ensures real accessibility, with a convenient
low floor along its entire length and is able to travel at speeds of up to
100 km/h. The first Citadis Spirit™ entered in service in 2019 in the
city of Ottowa, Canada. In the meantime, Alstom has been awarded a
firm order for the supply of 46 Citadis Spirit™ light rail vehicles for the
Greater Toronto and Hamilton (GTHA) area by Metrolinx, an agency of
the Government of Ontario.

Metros

Alstom has sold 6,000 Metropolis™ cars to over 25 cities around the
world. The range now sets the standard in the market.

The Metropolis™ range was designed to achieve three goals: meet
the needs of as many cities as possible; improve safety and passenger
experience; and reduce operating costs. Metropolis™ can carry up to
70,000 passengers per hour and per direction.

The Metropolis™ range was designed with sustainable mobility in mind
and incorporates state-of-the-art solutions such as weight reduction,
new converter technologies and all-electric braking to improve energy
efficiency and thus reduce running costs. It is also designed to keep
maintenance costs to a minimum and anticipate servicing needs. On
September 2018, Société du Grand Paris, in agreement with fle-de-
France Mobilités, has selected Alstom to develop and supply the trains
for metro lines 15, 16 and 17 of the Grand Paris Express.

To meet the individual needs and requirements of its customers, Alstom
also develops tailor-made metro solutions such as the metro of Lyon
(France). Latest generation rubber-tyred metro, the new trainsets will
use the latest advances in technology to increase availability, accessibility
and passenger information and to facilitate maintenance. Alstom has
delivered customised metro solutions for a number of major networks
in cities such as New York (United States) or London (United Kingdom).
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Suburban and regional trains

Over the past 30 years, Alstom has developed experience in the market
for regional and suburban trains, selling over 7,000 of these worldwide.

With X'Trapolis™, Alstom offers operators and passengers high-capacity,
flexible solutions to transport users to and from suburban centres.
X'Trapolis™ provides outstanding capacity of up to 100,000 passengers
per hour per direction. X'Trapolis™ Mega, was designed specifically for the
metric gauge market and high-density networks, and has been ordered
by the Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa (PRASA). First deliveries
started late 2015 in South Africa, as part of a total order for 600 trains.
The latest addition to the range and already ordered by the STIF, X'Trapolis
Cityduplex™ will guarantee the highest levels of availability, reliability and
safety. Each train can transport up to 1,860 passengers in its 130-metre
version. Numerous innovations will reduce energy consumption by 25%
compared to previous generations of equipment.

With 30 years of experience and more than 3,000 regional trains sold
around the world, Alstom has set the standard in the market with its
Coradia™ range.

The range offers specific technical configuration adapted to the needs of
each operator: Coradia™ Nordic is designed to run in wintry conditions
and withstand extremely cold temperatures; Coradia™ Polyvalent/Coradia
Liner™ is available in electric or dual mode (diesel and electric) and
offers outstanding modularity. Coradia™ Lint™, powered by a diesel drive
system, is in operation since many years in Europe and began running
in March 2015 in Ottawa, Canada. New deliveries will be environmentally
friendly with stage V gas emission standard diesel engines; Coradia™
Continental is a state-of-the-art modular electric multiple unit.

The new Coradia Stream™ is a success in particular with the supply of
nearly 300 trains to Netherlands national railway operator (Intercity
version) and to clients in Italy (Regional version). This range enlarges
with high-capacity double-deck trains with a first order for 34 trains by
the Luxemburg’s national operator.

Alstom is now offering the full range of emission-free train solutions.

Alstom also launched in 2016 Coradia iLint™, an emission-free train
for non-electrified lines, powered by hydrogen fuel cells. It can run at
140 km/h, with an autonomy up to 1,000 km/tankful, and accommodate
up to 300 passengers. The first pre-serial trains entered in passenger
service in Lower Saxony/Germany in September 2018. Alstom has
signed two contracts to supply serial trains in Germany now. In 2021,
14 Coradia iLint™ will be delivered to LNVG and in 2022, 27 trains of
the same type to RMV.

In 2020 the first contract for a BEMU (EMU plus traction battery for
emission-free operation) was signed with VMS in Germany. The trains
are based on service proven Coradia™ EMU train family.

High-speed and very high-speed trains
Alstom offers one of the widest ranges of high-speed trains in the market,
from articulated and non-articulated trainsets to tilting technology, single
or double-decker architectures, concentrated or distributed traction. Five
current flagship products of the Avelia™ range - Avelia™ Pendolino™,
Avelia™ Euroduplex™, Avelia™ AGV™, Avelia Liberty™ and Avelia
Horizon™ - represent the culmination of 40 years of expertise and more
than 1,100 trains in service around the world.
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Avelia™ Pendolino™ high-speed trains ensure excellent flexibility and
seamless cross-border service. With its Tiltronix™ anticipatory tilting
technology, Avelia™ Pendolino™ can travel more rapidly through curves
on conventional lines (up to 30% faster than a classic train), reaching
speeds of 250 km/h on high-speed lines while guaranteeing an excellent
level of passenger comfort inside the train. Avelia™ Pendolino™ is
available with or without tilting technology. End 2015, Alstom and .italo
the Italian private operator, signed a contract for the purchase of eight
Avelia™ Pendolino™ trains along with 20 years of maintenance. Later
between 2016 and 2018, .italo leveraged four options included in this
contract for the purchase of a total of 26 Avelia™ Pendolino™ trains and
related maintenance services for 30 years.

Avelia™ Euroduplex™ is the world’s only double-deck very high-speed
train able to travel at speeds of up to 320 km/h. With its articulated
design and concentrated power system, Avelia™ Euroduplex™ ensures
high capacity with reduced acquisition and operating costs. Operating
on the French, German, Swiss, Spanish and Luxembourg rail networks,
and in Morocco, Avelia™ Euroduplex™ trainsets, like all Avelia™ trains,
feature signalling equipment compatible with each network and are fitted
with traction systems adapted to the different voltages used in these
countries. Avelia™ Euroduplex™ is being replaced by the new generation
of double deck very high-speed trains, Avelia Horizon™.

Avelia Horizon™ brings its predecessor’s benefits to a further level,
offering 20% more capacity together with high comfort and minimising
total cost of ownership, thanks to an optimised architecture based on
compact power car and new articulated double deck coaches. Energy
consumption and maintainance costs are reduced respectively by 20%
and 30% compared to the previous generation. In July 2018, the Board
of Directors of SNCF Mobilités has approved a firm order for 100 next
generation Avelia Horizon™ very high speed trains.

Avelia™ AGV™ is the first high-speed train (360 km/h) to be developed
for an international, cross-border market. It features articulated trainsets
and distributed power. As a result, it offers lower operating costs in terms
of energy and maintenance. Avelia™ AGV™ is available in different
configurations of multiple units including two eleven-car and three
seven-car trainsets. Operators can easily reconfigure interiors and
seat pitches throughout the train’s lifecycle. Avelia™ AGV™’s energy
consumption is 20% lower than its competitors thanks to its lighter
weight, reduced number of bogies, improved aerodynamic design and
permanent magnet motors.

Combining proven technologies, Avelia Liberty™ offers flexibility and
comfort with accessibility and reduced operating costs. Amtrak already
ordered 28 new high-speed trains, which will run on the Northeast
Corridor (NEC) between Boston and Washington D.C.

Locomotives

The manufacturing of locomotives for the purpose of passenger or freight
transportation is at the heart of Alstom’s historical business activities
and expertise. With over 3,200 locomotives sold throughout the world,
for more than 20 years, Prima™ has provided a response well adapted
to operators’ demands.

Fully compatible with the European Rail Traffic Management System
(ERTMS) signalling systems, Prima™ locomotives can cross borders with
ease and operate on every freight corridor in Europe, as well as being
able to run on any of four main power supply voltages (25 kV, 15 kV,
3,000 V and 1,500 V). They are equipped with redundant systems that
reduce the risk of downtime due to immobilisation.



Both alone and with its partners, Alstom develops two electric
locomotives, Prima T6™ (CoCo type locomotive) and Prima T8™
(double BoBo type, up to 25 tons/axle), for heavy freight operations
guaranteeing low maintenance costs and high operational performances
in extreme conditions. Alternatively, the Prima M4™ multi-purpose
electric locomotive offers flexible platform with modular architecture
to meet each operator’s needs: freight (maximum speed 140 km/h),
passenger (maximum speed of 200 km/h) and mix operations.

Finally, Alstom has two types of environmental-friendly shunting
locomotives in its portfolio. The Prima H3™ hybrid shunting locomotive
(3-axle) combines the autonomy of diesel engine and the benefits of the
battery, which allows to reduce fuel consumption by up to 50%. As of end
2019, 48 Prima H3™ hybrid locomotives have been ordered by German
and Swiss companies and 32 have been put in commercial service,
representing by far the largest fleet of hybrid shunting locomotives
running in the world. The Prima H4™ is a BoBo type locomotive
which can be used for shunting and track works services, and also for
mainline freight services thanks to its high power range for a shunting
locomotive. The Prima H4™ is available in three versions, namely bi-mode
diesel (catenary power supply and diesel), bi-mode battery (catenary
power supply and battery) and hybrid (diesel engine and battery). SBB
Infrastructure, in Switzerland, is equipping its rail network with 47 Prima
H4™ bi-mode diesel locomotives since 2019.
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Components

Alstom designs, develops and manufactures internally bogies, motors,
dampers, traction systems, auxiliary converters, switchgear and
transformers. They are the result of several decades of experience
acquired by Alstom’s engineers. These components serve internal train
solutions and are also sold directly to other train manufacturers.

It is one of the market segments that benefits from powerful innovations
to best fit rolling stock needs, mainly related to weight & volume
optimization, energy savings, passenger experience and Total Cost of
Ownership (TCO). For instance, the use of permanent magnet motors,
in most of its product range (LRV, Regional, VHS) and the use & ongoing
development of Silicon Carbide technology (SiC) in its auxiliary & traction
systems for urban applications, usually more compact and more efficient,
allow optimized power density and significant energy savings. In order
to improve accessibility, Alstom has developed a range of low and flat
floor tram bogies, as well as a levelling system to adjust all types of
trains to platform height. Alstom focuses its efforts also in improving
comfort through its controlled dampers and in reducing equipment
noise in all its products, and this is for example translated into the new
elastic wheel fitted on the Ixege™ LRV bogies, improving the squealing
noise performance by up to 90%. Regarding total cost of ownership
aspects, Alstom has developed a wind speed naturally-cooled transformer
significantly improving life cycle cost and maintenance activities. This
is the case also for the last range of traction & auxiliary converters
working with natural-cooling, or low track aggressiveness equipment,
all contributing to operators’ benefit.

Alstom expertise in passenger experience is unique: our internal dedicated team is able to understand users’ needs, anticipate their future
expectations, while translating requirements into realistic solutions for the benefits of the operators and their passengers.

* Doors opening/closing identification at a glance with a smart lighting system embedded on the Citadis X05™ Tram for T9 line.

© 20 m? full flat low floor, entirely accessible on Aptis™ e-bus, +20% glass surfaces with three large glazed double doors on either side.

® Flexible interior onboard Coradia™ trains, allowing workspaces, friendly corner for family and groups with sofa seat comfort.

* Noise and vibration kept to @ minimum on Avelia Liberty™ thanks to its articulated architecture.

® Lounge car on Avelia Horizon™ revisiting the experience and smart lighting, extra-large windows, improved HVAC, latest on-board connectivity.

SYSTEMS

Infrastructure

Alongside its expertise in the execution of track, electrification and
electromechanical equipment projects, Alstom develops innovative
infrastructure solutions to achieve reduced costs, faster delivery or
improved energy efficiency of urban transport projects. As track works
play a significant role in the duration of a project, Alstom designed
Appitrack™, an automated track-laying solution enabling to install
urban tracks up to four times faster than with traditional methods.
Alstom also co-developed HAS™, a metro track solution composed of
concrete sleepers on resilient pads placed in a rigid boot, attenuating
ground-borne noise and vibrations. HAS™ is under implementation on
Crossrail project, United Kingdom, with more than 5,000 sleepers being
installed in sensitive sections of the line.

To achieve significant energy efficiency for urban and suburban rail
transport networks, Alstom has created Hesop™, a reversible substation
for traction and recovery in one single converter. Hesop™ enables the
reduction of heat dispersion and therefore the associated ventilation
requirements in underground operations. To date 126 Hesop™ converters
have been ordered for projects such as the Riyadh subway (Saudi Arabia),
the Dubai subway (UAE), the Sydney tramway (Australia) as well as
the Panama subway which are now in commercial service. In 2018,
Hamburg metro signed a letter of intent to test Hesop™ substation on
its network, the first unit of which was ordered and installed this year.
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Alstom also pioneered in the field of catenary-free tramway solutions,
with APS™, a technology powering trams at ground level via a segmented
third rail. To complete its catenary-free solutions, Alstom launched SRS™,
a new ground-based static charging system for trams and electric buses
equipped with on-board energy storage. Ordered in November 2015
by the city of Nice in France for its tramway, SRS™ was installed on
new Lines 2 and 3; in December 2019, Alstom commissioned, for the
first time, its new-generation tram Citadis X05™, completed with its
innovative SRS™ charging system.

Turnkey solutions

In addition, Alstom combines all the know-how accumulated by a
multi-specialised train manufacturer in order to offer integrated systems
able to manage every aspect of a railway system (trains, signalling,
infrastructure and maintenance). Alstom offers these solutions both in
the urban transportation market (tramway or metro) and in the mainline
transportation market.

With more than 10 integrated systems projects underway around the
world, Alstom continues to cement its position as a global leader in urban
solutions. This is an area in which Alstom has an excellent track record.

SERVICES

Whether they are public or private rail operators, fleet managers or
maintenance specialists, Alstom is present to assist its customers for the
entire lifecycle of their products by offering a range of customized services,
be it for their trains, infrastructure or railway traffic control systems.
The goal is to guarantee a complete, safe and optimal management of
railway train — whether it was or not manufactured by Alstom - and
equipment throughout their lifecycle, improving reliability, availability
and performance without compromise, through advanced maintenance
strategies combined with latest data analysis technologies.

The Services activity enables Alstom to further strengthen its relationship
with its customers and to better evaluate their needs and expectations.

Maintenance

Alstom is responsible for the maintenance of almost 13,000 cars in
approximately 139 sites and 40 countries. Maintenance contracts are in
place for periods of 15 years in average. Alstom maintains non-Alstom
trains on 20% of its projects.

Alstom offers tailor-made, scalable services from technical support
with spares to fully outsourced maintenance. Alstom'’s expertise in
supply chain and industrial organisation, backed by a strong system
and maintenance engineering competency, guarantees outstanding
rail system availability and reliability for all rail assets (rolling stock,
signalling and/or infrastructure).

Efficient rolling stock maintenance is a key success factor to ensure
performance, availability and reliability of service. Today digitalisation
and the emergence of the Internet of Things (loT) widens the range
of possibilities to achieve a higher level of excellence in services and
asset management. Alstom has created HealthHub™ - an innovative
approach to condition-based and predictive maintenance for rolling stock,
infrastructure and signalling. This integrated decision-support range of
tools (sensors, cameras, lasers, dataloggers, etc.) continuously monitors
the state of the assets to prevent failures, questioning the standard
execution of maintenance activities.
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Such projects include the contracts signed in Montreal (Canada), Riyadh
(Saudi Arabia) and Lusail (Qatar).

Alstom pursues its drive for innovation with Attractis™, a pre-engineered
integrated tramway system solution for fast-growing cities. It includes
the Citadis™ tram, road works, related infrastructure along with control
systems and maintenance depots. It aims at reducing investment by up
to 20% compared with conventional tramway systems offering the same
capacity, ensuring optimal total cost of ownership and acquisition costs
for operators and transport authorities.

Alstom provides the same global approach for metro systems like recently
in Dubai (UAE). To meet the needs of cities experiencing rapid growth and
high population density, Alstom has developed Axonis™, a light metro
system that is easy to incorporate into the urban environment. Using
non-proprietary standard infrastructure, Axonis™ is able to carry between
10,000 and 45,000 passengers per hour per direction, easy to insert
into a city, quick to build and driverless. The use of industry-standard
subsystems such as Metropolis™, Urbalis™, Hesop™ and Appitrack™,
along with performance optimisation and pre-defined interfaces, reduces
the acquisition cost and the total cost of ownership.

To further build on the success of HealthHub™ and turn the collected
data into action, Alstom has now launched Dynamic Maintenance
Planning - a new solution that allows a more responsive, flexible and
fluid execution of maintenance activities. Furthermore, it delivers value
during the operation and at each step of the maintenance plan, building
seamless interactions between operations and maintenance.

Latest references in maintenance cover systems in Dubai (UAE), Montreal
(Canada) and Ryadh (Saudi Arabia), signaling for SNCB in Belgium,
infrastructure for ADIF in Spain and locomotives in Kazakhastan and
India.

Modernisation

Alstom provides a range of services that also includes modernization. It is
key to extending the life of railway train (by up to 20 years) and systems.
It also enables to improve performance, particularly regarding energy
savings (up to 40% less), and also passenger environment. Depending
on the industrial means of the customers, Alstom can perform the
modernization studies and deliver the associated kits to the operators
which want to complete their projects internally or lead the entire project
up to the industrialization and necessary testing.

Alstom offers a full range of obsolescence services, from monitoring
systems issuing alerts to anticipate obsolescence up to full obsolescence
management and treatment solutions to ensure that the expected
lifecycle is achieved. It leverages for instance 3D printing used for rapid
prototyping and obsolescence solutions.

Latest references in modernization and obsolescence services cover
all types of fleets all over the world such as Mexico City MP68-MP73
metro (Mexico), Rocky Mountaineer regional trains (Canada) or S100
very high speed trains (Spain).



Parts, repairs and overhauls

Alstom offers a single entry point into a large suppliers panel, ensuring
through the right part at the right time and capitalising on technical
expertise as designer and manufacturer of rolling-stock, signalling &
infrastructure. It offers anticipation for parts supply and technical support
through Technical Support and Spares Supply Agreement (TSSSA)
contracts or zero missing parts through Availability Service.

Alstom also proposes various commercial offerings from spot requests
catalogue (1,000,000 train parts referenced) to Vendor Managed
Inventory (VMI) allowing to reach enhanced fleet availability and
shortest lead time thanks to forecasting, sourcing, purchasing and
stocking solutions.

In addition, Alstom has developed dedicated Components Services Centers
for key subsystems (bogies, brakes, traction, TCMS, etc.) to provide
worldwide support to our customers for overhauls or specific repairs.

Latest references in parts and repairs cover all types of fleets all over the
world such as Amtrak very high-speed trains (United-States), Nice light
rail vehicles (France), PRASA suburban trains (South Africa) or Class
180 regional trains (United-Kingdom).

Digital services

Alstom offers customers an extensive set of digital resources to effectively

look after their fleets:

® Fleet Support Centres, relying on HealthHub™ and using experience of
several fleets, allow well-targeted maintenance actions. Trains’ health
indicators and proposed service orders are shared daily with regular
analysis to improve fleet availability and reliability;

SIGNALLING

Alstom provides operators and infrastructure managers the means to
ensure the safe and smooth transportation of passengers or merchandise,
thereby optimising the efficiency of urban or main line networks. It
supplies railway operators and infrastructure managers with control
and information systems as well as onboard and on-track equipment
that guarantee the effectiveness and safety of the use of products, on
the one hand, as well as ensure that passengers are informed and
comfortable, on the other hand.

Alstom’s offer is focused on two separate segments of the market: main
line networks and urban networks - for which Alstom offers complete
and integrated solutions, which are customisable, based on the needs
of its customers. In addition, it also offers passenger security solutions,
and control centres for network management.

The development of signalling activity enables Alstom to meet the
growing demand for integration expressed by its customers. At the same
time, it makes every effort to reduce costs associated with this business
by relying increasingly on outsourcing its electronic systems production
and by establishing engineering centres in new regions, such as in
Bangalore, India. In order to optimise its development efforts, Alstom’s
signalling products and solutions rely on shared processes.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
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our user-friendly online customer portal facilitates support to our
clients (online technical support, obsolescence, safety alerts),
communication with our network of technical experts and easy access
to all digital services, including e-documentation and PartsFolio™,
Alstom’s online service for ordering parts;

our Dynamic Maintenance Planning solution enables a more
responsive, flexible and fluid maintenance execution.

We offer our customers a wide range of training solutions for their
operations and maintenance staff aiming at optimising the use of
equipment and systems throughout their lifecycle.

Using a wide range of educational methods (classroom sessions,
e-learning, on-job coaching, augmented reality, driving simulators, etc.),
trainees can acquire and perfect their knowledge in 50 different technical
fields. We deploy our resources, with 100 expert training consultants,
on customers’ sites and across our network of Transport Knowledge
Centers located in Europe, Asia and the Americas.

Latest references for HealthHub™ include Sydney Metro (Australia),
.italo High Speed trains (Italy), Reims light rail vehicles (France); latest
references for e-documentation include Avanti West Coast Pendolino™
(United-Kingdom), Montpellier Light Rail (France); latest references for
e-training include JBV Main Line (Norway).

StationOne™

StationOne™ is the first specialized BtoB marketplace dedicated to the
railway industry. It is the only digital solution for procurement across
the railway ecosystem, offering parts and services for all type of train
fleets, stations, infrastructure and systems.

StationOne™ is live and fully operational since March 2019 and available
in several countries in Europe. It matches demand from local and national
operators with supply of internationally renowned vendors.

Mainline networks

Atlas™ solution

The new ETCS/ERTMS standard (European Train Control System/
European Rail Traffic Management System) for railway network
interoperability is intended to impose a single signalling system shared by
all the countries in the European Union. The ETCS/ERTMS standard has
now been adopted by rail operators for different types of rail operations
from suburban to very high-speed rail and by operators from many
countries outside Europe. Having played a key role in defining these
ETCS/ERTMS standards, Alstom’s answer to these challenges can be
found in its Atlas™ offering, which is a complete solution that integrates
all of the network’s data in order to automatically adapt the speed
and distance between trains, including whenever the train crosses
borders. Atlas™ enables onboard equipment to remain connected to the
integrated control system, which is constantly liaising and exchanging
information with the network’s trackside equipment and interlocking
systems. Alstom has enriched in consequence its Atlas™ solution with
the Atlas™ 400 solution for low density lines and Atlas™ 500 solution
for high density rail traffic.
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Atlas™ solutions are now deployed on more than 10,000 vehicles of
more than 200 different train types ordered, amongst which more than
4,000 trains in full commercial service.

Incremental Train Control System (ITCS) solution

ITCS is a GPS-based train control system well suited for long spread-out
territory, remote section of tracks, low to medium frequency trains,
challenging power and communication supplies, and simple interlocking
needs. Acting in remote areas as vital virtual signalling system, ITCS
wirelessly communicates train movement authority as though the
territory were operating under centralised traffic control. This principle
leads to the lowest possible trackside equipment for a signalling system
allowing optimised lifecycle costs and higher availability. This solution
is scalable and can be adapted without changing the infrastructure.
Safety is ensured through full situational awareness and continuous
speed enforcement in the cab and wireless control of all trains from
central office. ITCS offers proven performance in daily revenue service
since 2001 having been deployed on freight, mining and mixed traffic
lines in USA, China, Australia and Colombia.

Urban networks

Network congestion, security, environmental pollution, and the lack
of adequate mobility solutions are the main challenges that urban
transportation must face. One of the keys to solving these issues
is increasing urban transportation capacity by improving signalling
systems. For over 70 years, Alstom has been addressing such urban
challenges, which is why it constantly upgrades its CBTC signalling
system (Communication-Based Train Control), its most proven signalling
system to date.

As part of its range of products for urban networks, Alstom offers both
onboard and on-track products (interlocking and trackside equipment)
and solutions (automated control system, control centre).

Alstom equips a number of the world’s major cities and its CBTC solutions
represent approximately 25% of CBTC solutions deployed worldwide. In
addition, it has also developed a significant presence in China, particularly
via its CASCO joint venture with CRSC.

Urbalis™ solution

Alstom’s Urbalis™ range of signalling solutions uses CBTC technology.
Urbalis™ 400 accurately controls the movement of trains, allowing
more of them to run on the line at higher frequencies and speeds in
total safety - with or without drivers. Alstom has equipped more than
2,000 km of metro line.

To further improve urban transport capacity, Alstom developed Urbalis
Fluence™, the first urban signalling solution with more on-board
intelligence and direct train-to-train communication. The solution offers
operators greater transport capacity, reducing headways to 60 seconds
while ensuring the highest operational availability and improved total
cost of ownership through a 20% reduction in the amount of equipment,
energy savings of up to 30% and adds up to 30% in line capacity.

Pegasus™ 101 solution

Alstom recently expanded its range of signalling solutions for urban
networks to include Pegasus™ 101. Pegasus™ 101 is an ATP system
(Automatic Train Protection) for tramways that ensures the highest
standards in network safety. Quick and easy to install on both new
and existing systems, Pegasus™ 101 assists and controls the driver in
some crucial tramway functions, such as speed control and calculation,
emergency stop signals, vigilance system, etc.
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Smartlock™ and Smartway™

Compatible with the main signalling standards in existence today,
Smartlock™ and Smartway™ are considered high-quality solutions
recognised for their versatility. At the global level, 25 countries are
currently utilising the technologies developed by Alstom.

Based on the overall level of network traffic, Smartlock™ interlocking
systems will allow - or not - a train to continue its journey when it
crosses a given point machine by following a safe itinerary that avoids
all risks of conflict with other trains’ itineraries, whether on urban,
freight, or main line networks. They are interfaced with onboard control
systems and control centres. With over 1,500 installations, the safety and
reliability of this new generation of Smartlock™ electronic interlocking
systems can be viewed as being particularly proven.

Smartway™ is a range of standard track signalling equipment that
includes track circuits (detection of trains per section of track, in order
to ensure traffic safety) and switch position motor control (ability to lead
trains toward any given track).

Smartway™ products are versatile, and can be installed on urban lines,
freight lines, high-density main lines, and high-speed lines, as well as
in stations, on less used tracks, level crossings, or evacuation zones.
They are interfaced with onboard control systems and control centres.

Iconis™ Supervision

As the need for more efficient rail network operation increases as a result
of an effort to optimise the use of assets, operators need a system that
is able to provide a fully integrated monitoring and control system for
all operational (train movement control, incident management, resource
allocation) and functional (static in-station or onboard functions)
elements of the network. This system must be easily customisable
to rapidly take into account the operator’s structure and operation
procedures.

Alstom’s solutions focus on passenger safety and the management of
information intended for them. With over 100 control centres located
throughout the world, Alstom is one of the few market players that
benefits from a sufficient amount of credibility and experience to lead
projects that involve the management of several lines, for Urban,
Mainline and Freight.

Traffic Management
Iconis™ control centre oversees and monitors all aspects of the network.

The Iconis™ automated control system guarantees train adherence to
schedules, the automatic optimisation of routes, and conflict-free resource
utilisation. It provides network operators with a general view of the status
of network traffic and enables them to interact directly with the system
at that level. Iconis™ can take various forms: from a simple autonomous
post for an independent station to several hundreds of interconnected
servers and operator workstations, able to manage an entire network.

Security/Closed Circuit TeleVision (CCTV)

Protecting passengers and their belongings from any potential security
threats is a central focus for Alstom. Relying on its technical know-how,
which enables it to evaluate precisely the risks faced in all the segments
of the rail industry, Alstom offers a state-of-the-art advanced security
system that is modular, easy to integrate and operate around the clock,
and that handles all functions intended to guarantee the safety and
security of passengers.



Alstom’s security systems can be integrated within larger systems:
the system can be run by an integrated security centre, which is itself
part of the overall structure of the information and rail communication
system. It covers all rail environments: stations, tracks, tunnels, signalling
equipment, trains, warehouses, and control centres.

The integration of all this information makes it possible to instantaneously
connect the network’s global surveillance (through a CCTV system,
access control, intrusion detection, and smoke and fire detectors), via the
Ethernet network, to the appropriate response (passenger information,
public announcements, emergency calls, or interventions).

Alstom’s range of products extends from simple stand-alone security
components to full integration within a control centre with assisted
incident management capabilities. It offers a customisable security system
structure that can be tailored to any type of train, station, control centre,
or warehouse (under construction or renovation).

Mastria™ multimodal control system

Mastria™, is designed to meet the current and future needs of “smart
cities” and coordinate all types of public transport, from rail to road.

Mastria™ orchestrates all public transport modes from rail to road
(metro, train, tramway, suburban, bus, taxi). This innovative solution
enables coordination and collaboration between the different agents
from each transport modes.

Mastria™ uses advanced data analytics and alogrithms to predict and
anticipate impact on traffic in order to optimise trip plan.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Research and development

Mastria™ manages incident over the whole public transport network (trip
plan, capacity adjustment). The coordination of the stakeholders includes
also fire stations, security, and maintenance through mobile devices.

Mastria™ generates high quality information accessible through open
data platforms for on-demand services such as car-sharing, self-service
bicycle, parking services. All the information is provided in real-time
from all transport modes.

Nomad Digital™ (Intelligent Transport)

Rail operators have to satisfy ever-growing expectations from passengers
wishing to utilize their travel time productively. Modern means of
communication can contribute to meeting this need by making real-time
information as well as on-board audio and video entertainment available.

Our cutting-edge, future-proofed technology offers a comprehensive
portfolio of passenger and fleet connectivity solutions to the railway
industry by improving connectivity for trains, metros, trams and buses on
the move globally. Nomad Digital™'s solutions include passenger Wi-Fi,
innovative Passenger Information Systems and on-board passenger
portals, entertainment and media platforms.

In Septembre 2018, the consortium of Alstom and Nomad Digital™ have
been awarded won a multi-million-pound contract by DSB in Denmark:
it is a a 6-year agreement to design and deliver a complete on-board
Passenger WiFi solution and provide maintenance and operation services
to the system.

The rail transport sector needs to prepare for potential cybersecurity threats. Operators shall also respect various new regulations and standards.

Cybersecurity in Alstom is addressed as a core element in order to ensure the cyber-resilience of Alstom solutions. Cybersecurity functions and
services are offered on solutions of Alstom’s portfolio, on rolling stock, systems, services and signalling.

Our objective is to propose state of the art services and solutions covering risk analysis, security by design, vulnerability management, vulnerability
scanning. To go further and faster, Alstom develops partnership with several stakeholders of the cybersecurity domain. The partnership with
Airbus in the field of cybersecurity of transport systems is an example. Signed in April 2017, the partnership is a strategic cooperation agreement
covering topics such as security governance, security processes, secure product design, maintenance of security. Alstom is also a key contributor
to CENELEC workgroup defining the future European railway cybersecurity standard.

® RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

As a major actor of transport and mobility, Alstom invests continuously
in research and development to increase the attractiveness and
competitiveness of its offer for its customers and the passengers. Its
R&D/sales ratio has been stable at ca. 3.5% over the last exercises.
Alstom is recognised for the development of new-generation trains,
components and cutting-edge signalling products and solutions, as well
as for innovative services and systems activities. All the R&D efforts are
focused to address the expectations of the customers and passengers as
well as taking into account the environmental and sustainability impact

of its offers. Alstom aims at proposing attractive solutions with high
capacity and an optimised lifecycle cost to its customers. Alstom is also
committed to contribute to the environmental performance of rail systems
by reducing railway system energy consumption (motor efficiency,
weight reduction, eco-driving...) and more generally the footprint of its
solutions during the whole product lifecycle from manufacturing to the
end of exploitation and recycling. The main R&D programmes of Alstom
are presented hereafter.
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DEVELOPMENT OF THE RANGE

Rolling stock

To address new markets and better fit with customer request on existing
markets, most of the product lines of rolling stock have been improved
during this year.

Citadis™

To increase the versatility of its tramways, Alstom is developing a new
electrical traction and auxiliary converter solution that can be installed on
Citadis™ range. While improving the availability and the competitiveness
of the trains, the solution enables to fit more equipments on the roof to
fulfill demanding customer requests.

Building on the momentum created by Coradia iLint™, a
zero-emission train featuring hydrogen fuel cells and energy storage
system with an autonomy range of more than 800km, Alstom
extends its range of energy autonomous trains to battery powered
trains (B-EMU). Alstom is the only manufacturer proposing a full
range of products to fulfill the needs of zero-emission trains with
the more adequate solution.

Development of the Avelia™ range

The development of Avelia™ range continues. The second Avelia Liberty™
train has been delivered and pursues tests prior to enter in revenue
service. The first trainset of Avelia Horizon™ ordered by SNCF is under
construction. The very high-speed train of the future will offer a capacity
of up to 750 seats and its total cost of ownership will be optimised with
a strong reduction in energy consumption as well as greatly reduced
maintenance costs compared to current trains.

Systems

Infrastructure: extension of reversible sub-stations
range Hesop™

Hesop™ reversible sub-stations enable energy supply optimisation of the
railway system and energy consumption reduction. Beyond the existing
product 750 /2 MW already in service, the range has been extended to
1500 V; 4 MW and 60 Hz, to cover customer needs all over the world.

Autonomous Driving

Having done with RATP a first demonstration of autonomous driving of a
tramway in a depot, Alstom is currently working on the industrialization
of this solution.

Several projects of autonomous driving are ongoing In partnership with
Easymile company. Alstom is also member of the consortium launched
by SNCF aiming at the autonomous driving of a freight train.

Through these initiatives, Alstom is positionned as a leader of the
autonomous driving market, beyond the current market of autonomous
metros.
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Services
HealthHub™

Launched some years ago via TrainTracer™, this R&D programme has
evolved and currently integrates all the initiatives associated with the
management of the train, infrastructure and signalling status, including
forecast of the future state of a given component. TrainTracer™ remotely
monitors the health status of a fleet and presents its key parameters
via a simple web interface. The maintenance efficiency is improved by
accelerating detection, diagnostics, and repairs, as well as by achieving
a 30% reduction in the amount of time the train is not in use. The
programme facilitates the implementation of predictive maintenance.
Part of HealthHub™, TrainScanner™ is a unique four-in-one diagnosis
portal providing information on the key systems of the train.

Signalling

Alstom Signalling continue to pursue its digitalization, cybersecurity and
rationalization roadmap. The powerful Wayside Core Frameworks which
have been deployed over the last years in our various solutions is being
more robust by extensive cybersecurity features, through our flexible and
structured architectures. For the Carborn Signaling solutions, our new
On Board Vital and Cyber Platform is covering now Urban & Mainlines
solutions. Alstom world class Core Frameworks are also supported
by cutting edge multicore computing system technologies, through a
virtualization approach, pushing Alstom digitalization at the next level.

Operational and maintenance services are also improved through
a modular architecture addressing full data capture and diagnostic
requirements, covering all subsystems and customer needs.

This roadmap is well served by an engineering organization capable to
maximize our R&D investments and assets throughout Alstom European
& Indian technological centers.

Data-driven rail mobility

Facing mobility evolutions, transport operators are more and more
looking for digital solutions to improve their financial and operational
performance. Aware of this trend, Alstom has enriched its portfolio
with more advanced decision support solutions, based on data or video
analytics, advanced signaling simulators and artificial intelligence.

Alstom has released the second version of the Mobility Data platform
which has been awarded the | Nove You™ special prize. It provides new
features for log analysis and troubleshooting and near real time data
exchange, using Kubernetes container technology.

In compliance with the new Alstom In Motion plan, a new strategy
and offering have been defined about data monetization in the field of
mobility analytics for maintenance, operations, energy and city flow.
These offering feeds already some tenders in AMECA and Europe regions.



INNOVATION

Alstom has put innovation at the heart of its Alstom in Motion strategy
to reinforce the competitiveness and attractiveness of its portfolio of
offerings and anticipate future market trends.

Innovation strategy

The second pillar of the Alstom in Motion strategy is “Innovation in
smarter and greener mobility solutions”. Green and smart mobility,
encouraged by customers’ and passengers’ expectations, is leading
to a transformation of the market. Already recognized as an industrial
reference in this domain, with for example the first hydrogen train and
products like Hesop™ which recovers the energy generated by trains in
braking mode, Alstom has set six priority areas to confirm its leadership:
® Green traction and energy performance;

© Road electromobility;

® Eco-design and manufacturing;

© Autonomous train;

© Data driven rail mobility for more connected products and services;
® Multimodality and Flow management.

Alstom will rely on sustained R&D investments. Innovation is also at the
heart of Alstom'’s entrepreneurial culture with for example already more
than 7,300 patents issued and multiple key partnerships.

Alstom’s ambition is to lead in green and smart solutions.

Innovation governance

The innovation governance is fully integrated within a wider process,
starting from detection of market needs and innovation up to project
delivery.

A worldwide network of innovation managers is in place on Alstom sites

in order to deploy locally the innovation process and strategy and boost
the idea creation, both internally and through external ecosystems.

Main initiatives
Innovation ecosystems

Innovation at Alstom is supported by a rich ecosystem of research

centres, corporates and startups with which the Company collaborates

on its main areas of interest. Here are a few examples:

® partnership with industrial companies: since 2017, Alstom has
a strategic cooperation agreement with Airbus in the field of
cybersecurity;

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Research and development

partnership with startups: Alstom is a Limited Partner of a venture
capital fund, Aster, which targets breakthrough innovations in the
areas of connected mobility and smart industry. Aster is a valuable
support for Alstom'’s strategy to detect early signals and collaborate
with start-ups;

partnerships with suppliers: Alstom has developed a strong experience
on partnerships through partnership program “Alliance” based on a
collaborative approach and mutual interest with our preferred suppliers
and can extend this expertise towards other partners.

Alstom keeps on being involved in major European initiatives like
Shift2Rail programme as on building strong links with local academics
ecosystems around the Alstom main engineering centers around the
world.

Our partnership approach produces a mutual benefit for all partners
and deliver greater impact through the multiplier effect of combined
resources to address the growing complexity of the value chain and the
galaxy of stakeholders of different shape and size.

Innovation contest: “I Nove You™”

“I Nove You™"” is a yearly company-wide programme designed to
unleash the innovative power of all Alstom’s people. The 12 has been
a resounding success, and with over 2,000 participants, and a total
of 620 projects submitted from 23 countries, Alstom teams achieved
a new record.

Open to all employees across all business lines and sites, the competition
rewards creativity in every shape and form, spanning products, systems,
processes, sustainable development, and even open innovation.

For its 12t edition, this year’s Alstom’s Innovation Awards ceremony
introduced a brand-new category called “Innovation to market”. This
is proof of Alstom’s willingness to keep engaging more and more in
innovation, through the exploration of all fields of creativity. The prize list
is fully aligned with Alstom’s strategy as it includes significant innovations
for a smarter and more sustainable mobility.

Over the years, “I Nove You™” has given rise to the creation of several
innovative solutions, enhancing Alstom expertise and customer service.
This decade has seen the birth of innovations such as Coradia iLint, the
world’s first hydrogen train, StationOne, the online platform for spare
parts, as well as HealthHub™, Alstom’s digital maintenance suite, or
Hesop™, a regenerative braking system that can reinject up to 99% of
energy into the network.
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https://www.alstom.com/our-solutions/rolling-stock/coradia-ilint-worlds-1st-hydrogen-powered-train
https://www.station-one.com/
https://www.alstom.com/our-solutions/services/maintenance-invaluable-expertise-world-class-service
https://www.alstom.com/our-solutions/infrastructure/hesop-saving-energy-and-costs-single-solution
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@ MAIN EVENTS OF YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 ®*FR
The acquisition of Bombardier Transportation
Key figures for Alstom in the fiscal year 2019/20
Covid-19 crisis and impact on performance
Organic growth
Partnerships

@ COMMERCIAL PERFORMANCE (SAFR
© ORDERS BACKLOG OAFR

@ INCOME STATEMENT (®AFR
Sales
Research & development
Operational performance
Net profit

©® FREE CASH FLOW PAFR
@ NET CASH/(DEBT) 2AFR
@ EQUITY PAFR

© NON-GAAP FINANCIAL INDICATORS DEFINITIONS PAFR
Orders received
Order backlog
Book-to-bill
Adjusted EBIT
Free Cash Flow
Capital employed
Net cash/(debt)
Organic basis

DAFR The Content of the Annual Financial Report is identified
& in the summary table with the help of this pictogram.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, AS OF 31 MARCH 2020
Main events of year ended 31 March 2020

® MAIN EVENTS OF YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

THE ACQUISITION OF BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION

Alstom announced on 17 February 2020 the signature of a Memorandum
of Understanding with Bombardier Inc. and the Caisse de dépét et
placement du Québec (“CDPQ”) in view of the acquisition of Bombardier
Transportation.

A unique opportunity to accelerate
Alstom’s strategic roadmap,
Alstom in Motion

The acquisition of Bombardier Transportation is a one-time opportunity
coming at the right moment for Alstom, which has significantly
strengthened its operational and financial profile over the past four
years, to accelerate its strategic roadmap, and is complementary to
Alstom’s commercial and industrial platforms.

Price structure and financing

The price for the acquisition of 100% of Bombardier Transportation
shares will be €5.8 billion to €6.2 billion subject to Transportation’s
accounts and adjustment mechanisms at closing. In addition, Bombardier
Transportation’s net cash position at closing will be retained by Alstom
and, should Bombardier Transportation have a negative net cash position
as of 31 December 2020, the purchase price will be decreased on a
Euro-per-Euro basis.

Alstom has in place a fully committed financing structured with the
objective of maintaining Alstom’s strong credit profile and commitment
to its Baa2 rating. The consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the
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Bombardier Transportation shares will be a mix of cash and new Alstom
shares. The total equity component of the financing will represent
approximately €5 billion, of which €2 billion will be raised on the market.

Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, CDPQ (which currently owns
32.5% of the Bombardier Transportation shares), will become the largest
shareholder of Alstom owning approximately 18% of its shares. Bouygues
will remain a large shareholder of Alstom owning around 10% of its
shares. Bouygues is fully supportive of the transaction and undertook to
vote in favour of the transaction-related resolutions at the Extraordinary
General Meeting (EGM).

Indicative timetable and next steps

Alstom’s unions indicated they will render their opinion around summer
2020 on the proposed takeover of Bombardier Transportation, according
to the “method agreement” reached with management. An EGM vote
on the reserved capital increases to CDPQ and Bombardier Inc. and the
rights issue should take place no later than 31 October 2020. Subject
to the EGM approval, rights issue will take place between the second
semester 2020 and first semester 2021 and the reserved capital increases
will take place at closing. The syndication of €2.4 billion of Bridge
Facilities and a new €1.5 billion Revolving Credit Facility related to the
proposed acquisition of Bombardier was completed in April 2020 as
planned. The transaction will also be subject to clearance from relevant
regulatory authorities and anti-trust authorities. Closing is expected in
the first half of 2021.



MANAGEMENT REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, AS OF 31 MARCH 2020
Main events of year ended 31 March 2020

KEY FIGURES FOR ALSTOM IN THE FISCAL YEAR 2019/20

The Group adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” on 1 April 2019, according to the simplified retrospective approach, without restatement of prior periods. On
1 April, the 2019 impact of IFRS 16 first-time application on lease obligations amounted to €388 million.

% Variation March 2020/March 2019

Group'’s key performance indicators for the fiscal year 2019/20:

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) EXNETCOPLPI 31 March 2019 @ Actual Organic
Orders Received 9,900 12,107 -18% -19%
Orders Backlog 40,903 40,481 1% 5%
Sales 8,201 8,072 2% 1%
aEBIT® 630 606 4%
aEBIT % 7.7% 7.5%
EBIT 545 408
Net Profit — Group share 467 681
Free Cash Flow 206 153
Capital Employed 2,424 2,088
Net Cash/(Debt) 1,178 2,325
Equity 3,328 4,159

(1) aEBIT adjusted for CASCO contribution in both periods: €38 million for March 2020 and €36 million for March 2019.
(2) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16.

COVID-19 CRISIS AND IMPACT ON PERFORMANCE

lockdown period and to a lesser extent on services due to the train
traffic reduction. Identified Covid-19 incremental and inefficiencies

In the context of the worldwide outbreak of Covid-19 Alstom responded
to the crisis by deploying dedicated health & safety protection measures

for its employees, in compliance with local and international authorities’
guidance. These actions resulted in a reduction of activities across most
production and maintenance facilities. The impact of these actions on
Alstom’s sales this year is assessed to be around €100 million, mostly
on rolling stock due to the slowdown of sales recognition during the

ORGANIC GROWTH

costs incurred during the fiscal year 2019/20, amounting to €24 million,
are not included in the percentage of completion formula and do not
generate revenue. They have been recognized in the primary statement
of the income statement under the caption Cost of sales.

The above-mentioned figures are adjusted as follows for foreign exchange variation resulting from the translation of the original currency to Euro,

as well as for change in scope.

The below table shows how the prior year actual figures are converted into a like-for-like set of numbers for comparison purposes:

Year ended
31 March 2020

Year ended 31 March 2019

- Comparable % Variation % Variation
(in € million) Actual figures Actual figures Exchange rate figures Actual Organic
Orders Backlog 40,903 40,481 (1,639) 38,842 1% 5%
Orders Received 9,900 12,107 77 12,184 -18% -19%
Sales 8,201 8,072 55 8,127 2% 1%
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Commercial performance

The actual figures for the fiscal year 2018/19 (orders backlog, orders

received and sales) are restated to reflect March 2020 exchange rates.

® Orders backlog was adversely impacted by the depreciation of
the South African Rand (ZAR), the Indian Rupee (INR) and the
Kazakhstani Tenge (KZT) against the Euro (EUR).

PARTNERSHIPS

To develop the Avelia Horizon™ trains, the joint-venture SpeedInnov was
created in 2015 by Alstom and the “Agence de la transition écologique”
(ADEME). The partnership is designed to work on developing a new
generation of very high-speed trainset and focuses on lowering train

© Orders received during 2018/19 fiscal year were mainly impacted by
the appreciation of the Canadian Dollar (CAD) and the Saudi Riyal
(SAR) against the Euro (EUR).

® Sales recorded during 2018/19 fiscal year have been impacted by
a favourable translation effect driven by the appreciation of the US
Dollar (USD) and the UAE Dirham (AED) against the Euro (EUR).

acquisition and operating costs while improving performance. In June
2019, Alstom increased its investment in capital in this joint venture
by €36 million, increasing its stake from 65.1% to 71.0%, leaving the
consolidation method of this entity unchanged.

©® COMMERCIAL PERFORMANCE

In the fiscal year 2019/20, Alstom’s order intake stood at €9.9 billion,
as compared to €12.1 billion for 2018/19. The Group benefited from a
strong momentum in the rail market to secure major contracts across
numerous geographies. In France, Alstom’s strong presence was once
again evidenced by the supply order for additional regional Coradia™
Polyvalent trains to SNCF. In Australia, the Group was chosen to supply
suburban trains and associated 20-year maintenance for Perth’s rail

Geographic breakdown

Year ended
31 March 2020

Actual figures
(in € million)

Europe 7,624
Americas 646
Asia/Pacific 1,569
Africa/Middle East/Central Asia 61
ORDERS BY DESTINATION 9,900

Product breakdown

Year ended
31 March 2020

Actual figures
(in € million)

Rolling stock 4,591
Services 3,315
Systems 265
Signalling 1,729
ORDERS BY DESTINATION 9,900

contrib.

network. In the United Kingdom Alstom was awarded a contract to
maintain and refurbish Pendolino™ trains for Avanti West Coast.

Last year’s exceptional order intake performance was mainly fuelled
by a jumbo contract to supply 100 Avelia Horizon™ trains, worth
€2.8 billion, and the large Systems contract in Canada with Réseau
Express Métropolitain (REM) in Montreal along with operation and
maintenance services for 30 years, worth €1.5 billion.

% Vari n

M 2020/March 2019

% of Year ended % of

31 March 2019 contrib. Actual Orga

77% 7,337 60% 4% 4%
6% 2,155 18% -70% -70%
16% 1,429 12% 10% 8%
1% 1,186 10% -95% -95%

100% 12,107 100%

% Variation
March 2020/March 2019

% of Year ended % of
(1A 31 March 2019 contrib. Actual Organic
46% 6,078 50% -24% -25%
34% 3,144 26% 5% 4%
3% 1,359 11% -81% -81%
17% 1,526 13% 13% 14%
100% 12,107 100% -18% -19%

In Europe, the Group witnessed another year of numerous commercial successes with a solid order intake of €7.6 billion for the fiscal year 2019/20,

as compared to €7.3 billion in the previous year.
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In France, large orders included the additional Coradia™ Polyvalent
regional trains to several French regions, 12 Avelia™ Euroduplex trains
to SNCF Mobilité, 13 Coradia™ Polyvalent trains for the CDG Express
project as well as the renewal and automation of the Marseille metro.
Alstom also won a contract to supply 44 new generation metro trains
from fle-de-France Mobilités and RATP, in consortium with Bombardier,
as part of a 410-train frame contract.

In Italy, Alstom will supply 48 Coradia Stream™ regional trains to the
Lombardy, Calabria and Piedmont regions. The Group also secured
an additional order for the supply and maintenance of 4 additional
Pendolino™ high-speed trains.

In Germany, the 27-train supply order for RMV (including a 25-year
maintenance contract) came as a further confirmation of the
attractiveness of Alstom’s Coradia iLint™ hydrogen train. The Group
also received orders for 30 Coradia™ Lint™ regional trains for the
Hesse region on the Wetterau West-East subnetwork and 19 Coradia™
Continental electric regional trains for Baden-Wiirttemberg.

In the United Kingdom, Alstom won a 7-year contract to refurbish and
maintain 56 electric Pendolino™ trains for Avanti West Coast. The
Britain’s most iconic train fleet, which was built by Alstom, is to undergo
a major overhaul, focusing on onboard facilities.

Further awards in Europe included the supply of 42 metros to Barcelona
and an 8-year maintenance contract for very high-speed trains for
Rielsfera in Spain, together with the supply of InterCity Next Generation

Alstom received the following major orders during the fiscal year 2019/20:

(ICNG), 18 Coradia Stream™ trains in the Netherlands. Furthermore,
Alstom, as consortium leader, was awarded a contract to provide digital
train control, traffic management and electrification infrastructure as
part of the rehabilitation and modernisation of a section of the European
Rhine-Danube rail corridor in Romania.

In Americas, Alstom reported €0.7 billion of orders in 2019/20, notably
with a 20-year maintenance contract for the Santiago metro in Chile. The
Group recorded €2.2 billion of orders in the previous fiscal year, thanks
to a large system contract in Canada with Réseau express métropolitain
(REM) in Montreal, to deliver a complete light metro system, including
operation and maintenance services for 30 years.

In Asia/Pacific, Alstom reported a strong order intake at €1.6 billion in
2019/20, as compared to €1.4 billion last year, confirming its presence
further on the Australian market, by signing a contract with the Public
Transport Authority of Western Australia (PTA) to manufacture and
maintain the next generation of C-series trains for Perth’s growing rail
network, as well as a contract to supply driverless trains and digital
signalling system for Sydney Metro extension to City and Southwest.

In Africa/Middle East/Central Asia, the order intake stood slightly below
the €0.1 billion mark, as compared to €1.2 billion over the same period
last year. Last fiscal year, the Group had secured a contract in Saudi Arabia
for the full maintenance of the transit system, along with an order in
Morocco for the supply of 30 electric locomotives.

Country Product Description

Australia Rolling Stock/Services Supply of 43 regional trains to Perth and associated maintenance for 20 years

Australia Signalling Supply of 23 driverless metro trains and digital signalling system for the city of Sydney

Chile Services Renewal of metro cars maintenance for 20 years in Santiago

France Rolling stock Supply of 13 Coradia™ Polyvalent trains to the CDG Express line

France Rolling stock Additional order of 12 Avelia™ Euroduplex trains for SNCF

France Rolling stock Additional order of 75 Coradia™ Polyvalent trains to the French regions

France Rolling stock/Signalling Supply of 38 new rubber-tyred metros, and automation of Marseille metro

France Rolling stock Supply of 44 metro trains for the city of Paris metro in a consortium with Bombardier

Germany Rolling stock Supply of 19 Coradia™ Continental regional trains to Baden-Wirttemberg region

Germany Rolling stock Supply of 30 Coradia™ Lint™ regional trains to the Hesse region

Germany Rolling stock Additional order to supply 32 metro trains to the city of Hamburg

Germany Rolling stock/Services Supply of 27 Coradia iLint™ hydrogen trains to Frankfurt metropolitan area along with
associated maintenance for 25 years

Italy Rolling stock Supply of 48 Coradia Stream™ regional trains to the Lombardy, Calabria and Piedmont regions

Italy Rolling stock/Services Additional order to supply 4 Pendolino™ high-speed trains and associated maintenance for 30
years for NTV

Netherlands Rolling stock Supply of 18 Coradia Stream™ trains to the Netherlands

Romania Systems Supply of digital train control and infrastructure solutions for the European Rhine-Danube rail
corridor

Spain Rolling stock Supply of 42 metros to replace the oldest trains in Barcelona on its lines 1 and 3

Spain Services Maintenance of very high-speed trains for 8 years for Rielsfera

United Kingdom  Services Refurbishment and 7-year maintenance of Avanti West Coast Pendolino™ trains
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Orders backlog

© ORDERS BACKLOG

As of 31 March 2020, the Orders backlog reached €40.9 billion, providing
the Group with strong visibility over future sales. This represents an
increase of 1% on an actual basis and 5% on an organic basis, as compared
to 31 March 2019.

The Group’s backlog growth was driven by major commercial successes
in France, Germany and Australia in rolling stock. Backlog increased
for services and signalling products thanks to a strong commercial
momentum in Europe and Australia. Key system contracts are now
nearing completion in Africa/Middle East/Central Asia and Latin America
regions and come as an explanation to the product line backlog decrease
by 31%.

Geographic breakdown

The fluctuation in currencies, most notably the depreciation of the
South African Rand (ZAR) and the Indian Rupee (INR) against the
Euro negatively impacted the rolling stock and systems backlog, mainly
in Asia/Pacific and Africa/Middle East/Central Asia regions for a total
amount of €1.6 billion.

During budget exercises, Alstom re-assesses how the Company
backlog evolution impacts the future sales cycles. Budget processes
are designed to estimate, based on the latest contract costs and planning
assumptions, how the contract sales from backlog can develop over
time. The March 2020 backlog contribution to the next three fiscal
years revenue is expected to land within a €17 billion-€18 billion range.

Actual figures Year ended Year ended

(in € million) 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 % of contrib.
Europe 21,321 52% 18,212 45%
Americas G559 14% 6,297 16%
Asia/Pacific 6,120 15% 5,752 14%
Africa/Middle East/Central Asia 7,923 19% 10,220 25%
BACKLOG BY DESTINATION 40,903 100% 40,481 100%
Product breakdown

Actual figures Year ended Year ended

(in € million) 31 March 2020 % of con 31 March 2019 % of contrib.
Rolling stock 20,677 51% 20,672 51%
Services 13,794 33% 12,779 32%
Systems 2,288 6% 3,311 8%
Signalling 4,144 10% 3,719 9%
BACKLOG BY DESTINATION 40,903 100% 40,481 100%

® INCOME STATEMENT

SALES

Alstom’s sales stood at €8.2 billion in the fiscal year 2019/20, growing
by 2% on an actual basis and 1% organically compared to the previous
year. The strong growth in Europe notably on rolling stock and signalling
activities was partially offset by the expected slowdown in other regions.
It is estimated that this year, Alstom’s sales were negatively impacted by
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around €100 million due to the Covid-19 crisis, Europe being the most
affected region. The book-to-bill ratio reached 1.2x this year, compared
to 1.5x for the previous year. Last year’s book-to-bill ratio was positively
affected by the signature of a contract for the supply of 100 Avelia
Horizon™ trains, worth €2.8 billion.
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Geographic breakdown

Year ended
31 March 2020

Actual figures
(in € million)

Europe 4,675
Americas 1,280
Asia/Pacific 889
Africa/Middle East/Central Asia 1,357
SALES BY DESTINATION 8,201
Product breakdown

Actual figures Year ended

(in € million) 31 March 2020

Rolling stock 3,942
Services 1,469
Systems 1,301
Signalling 1,489
SALES BY DESTINATION 8,201

In Europe, sales reached €4.7 billion, up €0.6 billion compared to last
year. This accounts for 56% of the Group’s total sales, up 15% on an
organic basis, thanks to the strong execution of large rolling stock
contracts, including, in France, the Coradia™ Polyvalent regional trains,
Avelia™ Euroduplex high-speed trains, metro and suburban trains for
the Tle-de-France region. The Group increased the pace of Coradia™
Continental and Coradia™ Lint™ train deliveries in Germany, the Coradia
Stream™ trains in the Netherlands and Italy. The Group produced further
high-speed Pendolino™ trains for NTV in Italy. In the United Kingdom,
Alstom continued to provide maintenance to Pendolino™ trains and
equipment to Crossrail tunnels. Alstom also grew European signalling
activities, in Denmark for the supply of onboard and trackside solutions,
as well as in Italy, Spain and the United Kingdom.

In Americas, sales stood at €1.3 billion, down €0.2 billion compared to
last year, and accounting for 16% of the Group sales this year. These sales
related in part to the ramp-up of Amtrak high-speed trains in the USA
and the light metro system for REM in Canada. In Latin America, sales
were driven by the execution of the metro system for Panama Line 2 and
the deliveries of metro cars in Santiago, Chile. During the year, several
major overhaul contracts in the United States and systems contract in
Panama reached completion, generating an expected decrease in sales
as compared to last year.

Income statement

% Variation March 2020/

March 2019
% of Year ended % of _
(LG AN 31 March 2019 contrib. Actual Organic
56% 4,061 15%
16% 1,470 18% -13% -14%
11% 921 11% -3% -3%
17% 1,620 20% -16% -18%
100% 8,072 100% 2% 1%
March 2020/M ch 2019
% of Year ended % of _
(LG AN 31 March 2019 contrib. Actual Organ
48% 3,448
18% 1,556
16% 1,766
18% 1,302
100% 8,072

In Asia/Pacific, sales amounted to €0.9 billion, largely stable compared
to last year, and accounting for 11% of the Group sales. These sales were
driven by the production increase of electric locomotives in India, and
further sustained by strong deliveries in Australian contracts, notably
the Citadis™ tramways for Sydney CBD and South East project and
the production of X'trapolis™ trainsets for Melbourne’s suburban rail
network. Last year sales included the supply of metro trains to the Sydney
North West Rail Link, which was fully delivered during the fiscal year.

In Africa/Middle East/Central Asia, sales stood at €1.4 billion, down
€0.2 billion compared to last year, and contributing 17% to the Group’s
total sales. The ramp-up of major rolling stock contracts, including
the X'trapolis™ trains for PRASA in South Africa, and the Prima™
freight locos for Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan, were largely offset by sales
deceleration of systems contracts including for the Dubai metro in the
United Arab Emirates and the Riyadh metro in Saudi Arabia, as both
contracts come closer to the final completion stage. During this year,
the region’s performance was also further fuelled by the deliveries of
Coradia™ trains for Senegal.
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Income statement

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

During the fiscal year 2019/20, research and development gross costs amounted to €442 million or 5.4% of total Group sales, with continued emphasis
on sustainable developments and smart mobility solutions, addressing mainlines, urban and new mobility markets.

(in € million)

R&D Gross costs

R&D Gross costs (in % of sales)

Funding received

Net R&D spending

Development costs capitalised during the period
Amortisation expense of capitalised development costs
R&D EXPENSES (IN P&L)

R&D expenses (in % of sales)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2020 31 March 2019
(442) (380)

5.4% 4.7%

117 75

(325) (305)

79 68

(56) (54)

(302) (292)

3.7% 3.6%

Alstom notably focused its research and development effort on the very
high-speed trains Avelia Horizon™ range, marked by the start of assembly
of the first components pertaining to the SNCF order signed last year. The
Avelia Horizon™ programme is funded by the Speedinnov joint venture.

In the frame of Alstom In Motion strategy, the Group invested in
green solutions to offer zero carbon emission alternatives to diesel for
non-electrified tracks. The Group is enlarging the Coradia™ regional
trains portfolio with hydrogen fuel cell Coradia iLint™ with trains already
running in Germany and the Netherlands and more recently towards
battery powered trains solution in Germany, Alstom further developed
its Citadis™ light rail vehicle with steel carbody for the city of Frankfurt
in Germany.

Alstom further invested in the development of its mainlines signalling
solutions Atlas™ that enable performance and interoperability for a wide
range of different networks. SNCF chose Alstom in September 2019 to
enhance Paris-Lyon high speed line traffic performance. The on-board
train control solution is poised to equip the entire Norwegian railway fleet.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

In the fiscal year 2019/20, Alstom adjusted EBIT reached €630 million,
equivalent to a 7.7% operational margin, as compared to €606 million
and 7.5% in the previous fiscal year.

The operational margin improvement came as a result of a reduction of
cost of sales, when expressed as a percentage of sales. Cost of sales at
Alstom are primarily, but not only, made up of material buy, applicative
and system engineering, manufacturing and supply chain labour costs, as
well as subcontracted services. The cost of sales ratio improvement was
achieved through the optimisation of production capacities, enhanced
industrial efficiency, and control over overhead production costs. The
increased signalling share within the overall company sales mix has
also contributed improving the cost of sales ratio.
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Over the fiscal year 2019/20, Alstom accelerated developments of the
North American Passenger & Transit portfolio solutions, including the
integrated Vital Processor Interlocking (iVPI®) technology, a solution
for interlocking and wayside control used for the Metrolinx USRC project
in Toronto, Canada, the Audio Frequency Track Circuits (AFTC5) which
detects train presence on the tracks with numerous application across
the USA and Carborne MicroCabmatic™ which supports the Positive
Train Control system that aims at reducing train accident occurrence. It
is being deployed through the New Jersey Transit (NJT) and Metro North
Railroad (MNRR) contracts.

Alstom pursued the development of its CBTC solutions, Urbalis Fluence™
and Urbalis 400™ for metros and tramways, deployed in more than 100
lines worldwide, as well as for the recently awarded Marseille metro
renewal and automation contract.

Over the period, Alstom increased its support to the ICONIS™ suite
for Operation Control Centers, allowing to maximize traffic fluidity and
orchestrate operations from distance and the cyber security of Alstom
solutions through its partnership with Airbus signed in 2017.

Selling and Administrative costs as a percentage of sales rose marginally
to 7.2%, as compared to 7.0% in the previous year, as a result of renewed
commercial efforts over the period.

Over the period, the CASCO contribution, amounted to €38 million,
increasing from previous year’s €36 million contribution. Alstom has
a 49% share in CASCO Signal Limited, a joint venture operating the
Chinese railway market since 1986. It was established with the China
Railway Signal & Communication Corporation and it is based in Shanghai.
CASCO continues to provide signalling systems and services for subway,
tramway and mainlines.
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NET PROFIT

During the fiscal year 2019/20, Alstom recorded restructuring and
rationalization charges for €(18) million linked to small initiatives in
Europe and Latin America. Last year’s charges amounted to €(65) million
as a result of costs optimisation initiatives in Germany, Brazil and in the
United Kingdom.

Last year’s capital gains on disposal of businesses were generated by
the change of consolidation method from equity to full consolidation
of EKZ for €33 million and the gain on TMH dilution for €25 million.

Over the period, Covid-19 incremental and inefficiencies costs amounted
to €(24) million.

Impairment loss and other costs amounted to €(5) million, including
mainly, amortisation of intangible assets such as GE signalling, EKZ and
Nomad for €(14) million, deal costs related to the planned Bombardier
Transportation acquisition for €(15) million and legal proceeding gains
for €31 million. The expense that was recorded over the previous fiscal
year included notably amortisation of intangible assets such as GE
signalling, SSL and Nomad for €(15) million, transaction costs related
to the Siemens combination project for €(74) million, in addition to
charges related to legal proceedings for €(69) million.

EBIT stood at €545 million as compared to €408 million in the fiscal year
2018/19, reflecting the strong operational performance over the year.

©® FREE CASH FLOW

Free Cash Flow

Net financial expenses decreased to €(76) million during the fiscal year
2019/20, as compared to €(88) million in the previous year due to an
improvement in the commercial derivatives portfolio. The reduction in
financing expenses at holding level due to the repayment of €879 million
bonds having matured over the year was partly offset by increased
subsidiaries financing cost, notably for India.

The Group recorded an income tax charge of €(118) million for the fiscal
year 2019/20 corresponding to an effective tax rate of 25% compared to
€(70) million for the same period last year and an effective tax rate of
22%. Last year’s effective tax rate was lower due to deferred tax assets
recognized on previous tax loss carry forwards as well as reversal of
tax provisions.

The share in net income from equity investments amounted to
€102 million mainly related to the result of both Transmashholding
Limited (TMH) and CASCO Signal Limited joint ventures. Last year’s
result was impacted by the re-evaluation of the Energy Joint Ventures
put options over the period for €106 million.

The net profit from discontinued operations stood at €21 million including
the reassessment of liabilities related to activities disposal, mainly related
to the GE main deal. Last year the reassessment of the liabilities related
to the disposal of activities impacted the net profit by €248 million.

As a result, the Net profit (Group share) stood at €467 million for the
fiscal year 2019/20 compared to €681 million during the same period
last fiscal year.

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2020 31 March 20199
EBIT 545 408
Depreciation and amortisation 293 194
Restructuring variation (12) 15
Capital expenditure (195) (207)
R&D capitalisation (79) (68)
Change in working capital (249) (12)
Financial cash-out (95) (s0)
Tax cash-out (102) (105)
Other 100 18
FREE CASH FLOW 206 153

(*) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16.

The Group’s Free Cash Flow was €206 million for the fiscal year 2019/20
as compared to €153 million for the prior fiscal year. Working capital
resources were consumed mainly during the first half of the year with the
ramp-up of major projects, notably for the X'trapolis™ suburban trains in
South Africa, electrical locomotives in India and Coradia™ regional trains
for the Netherlands, Italy and Germany, partly offset by a sound level
of cash collected following deliveries and orders signed during the year.

The line “Other” from the table includes dividends linked to
Transmashholding (TMH) and Casco Signal Limited joint ventures’
performance. Last year, the line included the neutralization of the P&L
impact linked to the consolidation method change from equity to full
consolidation of EKZ for €(33) million and the gain on TMH dilution
for €(25) million.
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The Group adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” on 1 April 2019, according to the
simplified retrospective approach, without restatement of prior period
comparatives. Annual amortization related to the new Right-of-Use
asset amounts to €92 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
total impact of the IFRS16 lease implementation to the Free Cash Flow
reported aggregate is estimated at €84 million over the period (refer to
Note 2.2.1 “IFRS16 Lease”).

® NET CASH/(DEBT)

Due to IFRS 16 implementation on 1 April 2019, the Group has chosen
to exclude lease obligations from the net cash/(debt) which results in a
change in net cash/debt of €15 million. From 1 April 2019, the net cash/
(debt) is defined as cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and
other current financial asset, less borrowings. Previous year figures have
not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16.

0On 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a net cash level of €1,178 million,
compared to the net cash position of €2,325 million on 31 March 2019.
Alstom'’s net cash decreased over the period, due to €(1,240) million
dividends paid including non-controlling interests, offset by a Free Cash
Flow generation of €206 million over the period, and further impacted by
€(98) million acquisitions, net of disposals. The Group’s acquisitions over
the period notably included Alstom’s share increase in the SpeedInnov
Joint Venture for €36 million and Alstom’s share increase in the CASCO
Joint Venture for €20 million.

In addition to its available cash and cash equivalents, amounting to
€2,175 million as of 31 March 2020, the Group can access a €400 million
revolving credit facility (RCF), maturing in June 2022 which is fully
undrawn at March 2020. This resulted in a liquidity position as of
31 March 2020 of €2,575 million.

® EQUITY

The Group Equity on 31 March 2020 amounted to €3,328 million
(including non-controlling interests), from €4,159 million on 31 March
2019, mostly impacted by:

© net profit from fiscal year 2019/20 of €467 million (Group share);

© actuarial hypothesis variation on pensions (recorded in equity) of
€36 million net of tax;
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During the fiscal year 2019/20, Alstom invested €195 million in capital
expenditures in order to sustain capacity increase in Poland for the
Coradia Stream™ assembly, in India to enable upcoming light metro
vehicle production, in Italy to maintain high speed trains, as well as in
France to prepare for the Avelia Horizon™ high-speed trains production.

In the context of Covid-19, Alstom has taken additional measures to
bolster its liquidity.

Alstom has secured a €1,750 million short term Revolving Credit Facility
with a 1-year maturity, a 6-month extension option at the borrower’s
discretion and another 6-month extension at the lender’s discretion. This
additional RCF aims at stepping in for Alstom’s €1 billion Negotiables
European Commercial Paper program, should the Commercial Papers
market no longer be accessible, in addition to providing an extra liquidity
buffer.

With these decisions, the Company has significant liquidity available
should additional liquidity be required to address the consequences
of the Covid-19 situation. Liquidity resources stand at €2,575 million
as of 31 March 2020 comprising €2,175 million in available cash and
cash equivalents and €400 million of fully undrawn credit lines plus the
additional €1,750 million under the new short term Revolving Credit
Facility put in place in April 2020.

e dividends paid to Alstom shareholders for €(1,234) million;
® share-based payments for €85 million;
® currency translation adjustment of €(162) million.
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© NON-GAAP FINANCIAL INDICATORS DEFINITIONS

This section presents financial indicators used by the Group that are not defined by accounting standard setters.

ORDERS RECEIVED

A new order is recognised as an order received only when the contract
creates enforceable obligations between the Group and its customer.

When this condition is met, the order is recognised at the contract value.

ORDER BACKLOG

Order backlog represents sales not yet recognised from orders already
received.

Order backlog at the end of a financial year is computed as follows:

© order backlog at the beginning of the year;

© plus new orders received during the year;

® |ess cancellations of orders recorded during the year;

® |ess sales recognised during the year.

BOOK-TO-BILL

If the contract is denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the reporting unit, the Group requires the immediate
elimination of currency exposure using forward currency sales. Orders are
then measured using the spot rate at inception of hedging instruments.

The order backlog is also subject to changes in the scope of consolidation,
contract price adjustments and foreign currency translation effects.

Order backlog corresponds to the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations, as per IFRS 15 quantitative and
qualitative disclosures requirement.

The book-to-bill ratio is the ratio of orders received to the amount of sales traded for a specific period.

ADJUSTED EBIT

When Alstom’s new organisation was implemented in 2015, adjusted
EBIT (“aEBIT”) became the Key Performance Indicator to present the
level of recurring operational performance. This indicator is also aligned
with market practice and comparable to direct competitors.

Starting September 2019, Alstom has opted for the inclusion of the
share in net income of the equity-accounted investments into the aEBIT
when these are considered to be part of the operating activities of the
Group (because there are significant operational flows and/or common
project execution with these entities), namely the CASCO Joint Venture.
The Company believes that bringing visibility over a key contributor to
the Alstom signalling strategy will provide a fairer and more accurate
picture of the overall commercial & operational performance of the
Group. This change will also enable more comparability with what
similar market players define as being part of their main non-GAAP
profit aggregate disclosure.

aEBIT corresponds to Earning Before Interests and Tax adjusted for the
following elements:

net restructuring expenses (including rationalization costs);

tangibles and intangibles impairment;

capital gains or loss/revaluation on investments disposals or controls
changes of an entity;

any other non-recurring items, such as some costs incurred to realize
business combinations and amortization of an asset exclusively valued
in the context of business combination, as well as litigation costs that
have arisen outside the ordinary course of business;

and including the share in net income of the operational equity-
accounted investments.

A non-recurring item is a “one-off” exceptional item that is not supposed
to occur again in following years and that is significant.

Adjusted EBIT margin corresponds to Adjusted EBIT expressed as a
percentage of sales.
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The non-GAAP measure adjusted EBIT (aEBIT hereafter) indicator reconciles with the GAAP measure EBIT as follows:

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) EXNETCORL L 31 March 2019 @
Adjusted Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (aEBIT) @ 630 606
aEBIT (in % of sales) 7.7% 7.5%
Capital gains/(losses) on disposal of business - 60
Restructuring and rationalisation costs (18) (65)
Impairment loss and other (5) (158)
Covid-19 inefficiencies and incremental costs (24) -
CASCO contribution reversal (38) (36)
EARNING BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES (EBIT) 545 408

(1) aEBIT adjusted for CASCO contribution in both periods.

(2) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16.

FREE CASH FLOW

Free Cash Flow is defined as net cash provided by operating activities
less capital expenditures including capitalised development costs, net of
proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets. In particular,
Free Cash Flow does not include any proceeds from disposals of activity.

The most directly comparable financial measure to Free Cash Flow
calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS is net cash provided
by operating activities.

A reconciliation of Free Cash Flow and net cash provided by operating activities is presented below:

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2020 31 March 20199
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 476 425
Capital expenditure (including capitalised R&D costs) (274) (275)
Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets 4 3
FREE CASH FLOW 206 153

(*) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16.

Alstom uses the Free Cash Flow both for internal analysis purposes as well
as for external communication as the Group believes it provides accurate
insight into the actual amount of cash generated or used by operations.

CAPITAL EMPLOYED

Capital employed corresponds to hereafter-defined assets minus liabilities.
® Assets: sum of goodwill, intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment, equity-accounted investments and other investments,
other non-current assets (other than those related to financial debt
and to employee defined benefit plans), inventories, costs to fulfil a
contract, contract assets, trade receivables and other operating assets;
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During the fiscal year 2019/20, the Group Free Cash Flow was at
€206 million compared to €153 million during the same period of the
previous year.

e Liabilities: sum of non-current and current provisions, contract
liabilities, trade payables and other operating liabilities.

At the end of March 2020, capital employed stood at €2,424 million,
compared to €2,088 million at the end of March 2019. This movement
was mainly driven by the net decrease of the liability position of the
Group working capital.



MANAGEMENT REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, AS OF 31 MARCH 2020
Non-GAAP financial indicators definitions

Year ended Year ended

(in € million) 31 March 2020 31 March 2019
Non-current assets 4,628 4,313
less deferred tax assets (234) (299)
less non-current assets directly associated to financial debt (a77) (201)
less prepaid pension benefits o -
Capital employed - non-current assets (A) 4,217 3,813
Current assets 8,380 9,090
less cash & cash equivalents (2,275) (3,432)
less other current financial assets (45) (10)
Capital employed - current assets (B) 6,160 5,648
Current liabilities 7,775 8,059
less current financial debt (270) (1,032)
plus non-current lease obligations 465 -
less other obligations associated to financial debt (277) -
plus non-current provisions 160 346
Capital employed - liabilities (C) 7,953 7,373
CAPITAL EMPLOYED (A)+(B)-(C) 2,424 2,088

NET CASH/(DEBT)

The net cash/(debt) is defined as cash and cash equivalents, other
current financial assets and non-current financial assets directly
associated to liabilities included in financial debt, less financial debt.

(in € million)

0n 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a net cash level of €1,178 million,
as compared to the net cash position of €2,325 million on 31 March 2019.

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current financial assets

Financial non-current assets directly associated to financial debt
less:
Current financial debt
Non-current financial debt

NET CASH/(DEBT) AT THE END OF THE PERIOD")

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2020 31 March 2019
2,175 3,432

45 10

= 201

270 1,032

772 286

1,178 2,325

(*) Due to IFRS 16 implementation, the Group has chosen to exclude lease obligations from the net cash/(debt). From 1 April 2019, the net cash/(debt) is defined
as cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and other current financial asset, less borrowings. Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the

application of IFRS 16.

ORGANIC BASIS

Figures presented in this section include performance indicators presented
on an actual basis and on an organic basis. Figures given on an organic
basis eliminate the impact of changes in scope of consolidation and
changes resulting from the translation of the accounts into Euro following
the variation of foreign currencies against the Euro.

The Group uses figures prepared on an organic basis both for internal
analysis and for external communication, as it believes they provide
means to analyse and explain variations from one period to another.
However, these figures are not measurements of performance under
IFRS.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated income statement

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 March 2020

© CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Year ended
(in € million) Note At EXNVETPTPL At 31 March 20190
Sales 3) 8,201 8,072
Cost of sales (6,740) (6,641)
Research and development expenses (&) (302) (291)
Selling expenses (5) (223) (214)
Administrative expenses (5) (368) (355)
Other income/ (expenses) (6) (23) (163)
Earnings Before Interests and Taxes 545 408
Financial income (7) 6 3
Financial expense 7) (82) (91)
Pre-tax income 469 320
Income Tax Charge (8) (118) (70)
Share in net income of equity-accounted investments (13) 102 195
Net profit from continuing operations 453 445
Net profit from discontinued operations (9) 21 248
NET PROFIT 474 (k]
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 467 681
Net profit attributable to non controlling interests 7 12
Net profit from continuing operations attributable to:
© Equity holders of the parent 446 433
* Non controlling interests 7 12
Net profit from discontinued operations attributable to:
© Equity holders of the parent 21 248
* Non controlling interests - -
EARNINGS PER SHARE (in €)
© Basic earnings per share (10) 2.08 3.05
 Diluted earnings per share (10) 2.06 3.03

(*) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16 (see Note 2).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

© CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Year ended
(in € million) Note At ERN BT PPN At 31 March 2019 @
Net profit recognised in income statement 474 693
Remeasurement of post-employment benefits obligations (29) 37 (s0)
Equity investments at FVOCI (213)/(14) () 55
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (8) (4) 5
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 27 10
of which from equity-accounted investments (13) 1) 54
Fair value adjustments on cash flow hedge derivatives (4) -
Costs of hedging reserve () (8)
Currency translation adjustments @ (23) (163) 33
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (8) 3 2
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (168) 27
of which from equity-accounted investments (13) (89) (1)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 333 730
Attributable to:
® Equity holders of the parent 329 718
* Non controlling interests 4 12
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders arises from:
e Continuing operations 308 469
® Discontinued operations 21 249
Total comprehensive income attributable to non controlling interests arises from:
© Continuing operations 4 12

® Discontinued operations - -

(1) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16 (see Note 2).
(2) Includes currency translation adjustments on actuarial gains and losses for €2 million as of 31 March 2020 (€(3) million as of 31 March 2019).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet

© CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Assets

(in € million) Note At ERN BT BLPION At 31 March 2019¢
Goodwill (12) 1,567 1,574
Intangible assets (12) 470 470
Property, plant and equipment (12) 1,371 953
Investments in joint-venture and associates (13) 693 711
Non consolidated investments (14) 60 64
Other non-current assets (15) 233 242
Deferred Tax (8) 234 299
Total non-current assets 4,628 4,313
Inventories (27) 1,743 1,533
Contract assets (18) 1,644 1,448
Trade receivables (19) 1,581 1,661
Other current operating assets (20) 1,192 1,006
Other current financial assets (25) 45 10
Cash and cash equivalents (26) 2,175 3,432
Total current assets 8,380 9,090
Assets held for sale (13) - 7
TOTAL ASSETS 13,008 13,410
(*) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16 (see Note 2).

Equity and Liabilities

(in € million) Note At RV ETC BTPL At 31 March 20190
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent (23) 3,271 4,091
Non controlling interests 57 68
Total equity 3,328 4,159
Non current provisions (22) 160 346
Accrued pensions and other employee benefits (29) 491 533
Non-current borrowings (27) 772 89
Non-current lease obligations (27) 465 197
Deferred Tax (8) 17 21
Total non-current liabilities 1,905 1,186
Current provisions (22) 853 847
Current borrowings (27) 270 1,013
Current lease obligations (27) 131 19
Contract liabilities (18) 3,148 3,001
Trade payables (16) 1,653 1,751
Other current liabilities (22) 1,720 1,428
Total current liabilities 7,775 8,059
Liabilities related to assets held for sale (13) - 6
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 13,008 13,410

(*) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16 (see Note 2).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

© CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended

(in € million) Note At RN BT PPN At 31 March 20190
Net profit 474 693
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (11)/(22) 293 195
Expense arising from share-based payments (30) 25 20
Cost of net financial debt and costs of foreign exchange hedging, net of interest paid (30) (14)
and received (a), and other change in provisions

Post-employment and other long-term defined employee benefits 4 11
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of assets ) (s7)
Share of net income (loss) of equity-accounted investments (13) (22) (143)
(net of dividends received)

Deferred taxes charged to income statement (8) 61 10
Net cash provided by operating activities - before changes in working capital 803 715
Changes in working capital resulting from operating activities (b) (16) (327) (290)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 476 425
Of which operating flows provided/(used) by discontinued operations - -
Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets 4 3
Capital expenditure (including capitalised R&D costs) (274) (275)
Increase/(decrease) in other non-current assets (15) 7) 10
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (61) (114)
Disposals of businesses, net of cash sold (30) 2,576
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (368) 2,200
Of which investing flows provided/(used) by discontinued operations (9) (31) (16)
Capital increase/(decrease) including non-controlling interests 60 19
Dividends paid including payments to non-controlling interests (1,240) (84)
Issuances of bonds & notes (27) 700 -
Repayments of bonds & notes issued (27) (879) (372)
Changes in current and non-current borrowings (27) 110 (8)
Changes in lease obligations (27) (103) (17)
Changes in other current financial assets and liabilities (27) (5) 3
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (2,357) (458)
Of which financing flows provided/(used) by discontinued operations - -
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,249) 2,167
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 3,432 1,231
Net effect of exchange rate variations (12) 37
Transfer to assets held for sale 3 (3)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD (¢13) 2,175 3,432
(@) Net of interests paid & received (57) (62)
(b) Income tax paid (102) (105)

(*) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16 (see Note 2).
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Year ended

(in € million) At ERN BT BLPIOE At 31 March 2019 @

Net cash/(debt) variation analysis @

Changes in cash and cash equivalents (1,249) 2,167
Changes in other current financial assets and liabilities 5 3)
Changes in bonds and notes 179 371
Changes in current and non-current borrowings (110) 8
Changes in lease obligations - 17
Net debt of acquired/disposed entities at acquisition/disposal date and other variations 28 20
Decrease/(increase) in net debt (1,247) 2,580
Net cash(debt) at the beginning of the period 2,325 (255)
NET CASH/(DEBT) AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 1,178 2,325

(1) Previous year figures have not been restated to reflect the application of IFRS 16 (see Note 2)

(2) Due to IFRS 16 implementation (see Note 2), the Group has chosen to exclude lease obligations from the net cash/(debt). From 1 April 2019, the net cash/
(debt) is defined as cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and other current financial asset (see Note 25), less borrowings (see Note 27).
The resulting impact of the IFRS 16 first time application amounts to €15 million and is included in the “net debt acquired/disposed entities at acquisition/
disposal date and other variations”.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

© CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

.  Equity
- Actuarial attributable
Number of Additional gains Currency | to the equity Non
(in € million, except outstanding paid-in  Retained and Cashflow translation | holders of the | controlling Total
for number of shares) shares | Capital capital earnings losses hedge  adjustment parent | interests equity
At 31 March 2018 222,210,471 | 1,555 917 1,709  (263) 7 (549) 3,376 54 3,430
Movements in other - - - 49 (48) - 36 37 - 37
comprehensive
income
Net income for the - - - 681 - - - 681 12 693
period
Total comprehensive - - - 730 (48) - 36 718 12 730
income
Change in controlling - - - (10) - (7) 53 36 6 42
interests and others
Dividends - - - (78) - - - (78) (4) (82)
Issue of ordinary 638,610 5 - (5) - - - - - -
shares under long
term incentive plans
Recognition of equity 723,232 5 14 20 - - - 39 - 39
settled share-based
payments
At 31 March 2019 223,572,313 | 1,565 931 2,366 (311) - (460) 4,091 68 4,159
Movements in other - - - (9) 36 3) (162) (138) 3) (141)
comprehensive
income
Net income for the - - - 467 - - - 467 7 474
period
Total comprehensive - - - 458 36 3) (162) 329 4 333
income
Change in controlling - - - - - - - - (9) (9)
interests and others
Dividends - - - (1,234) - - - (1,234) (6) | (1,240)
Issue of ordinary 219,728 1 4 - - - - 5 - 5
shares under long
term incentive plans
Recognition of equity 2,181,741 15 45 20 - - - 80 - 80
settled share-based
payments
AT 31 MARCH 2020 225,973,782 1,581 980 1,610 (275) (€)) (1)) 3,271 57 3,328

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Alstom is a leading player in the world rail transport industry. As such,
the Company offers a complete range of solutions, including rolling
stock, systems, services as well as signalling for passenger and freight
railway transportation. It benefits from a growing market with solid
fundamentals. The key market drivers are urbanisation, environmental
concerns, economic growth, governmental spending and digital
transformation.

In this context, Alstom has been able to develop both a local and global
presence that sets it apart from many of its competitors, while offering
proximity to customers and great industrial flexibility. Its range of

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

solutions, one of the most complete and integrated on the market, and
its position as a technological leader, place Alstom in a unique situation
to benefit from the worldwide growth in the rail transport market. Lastly,
in order to generate profitable growth, Alstom focuses on operational
excellence and its product mix evolution.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro and have
been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors held on 11 May 2020.
In accordance with French legislation, they will be final once approved
by the shareholders of Alstom at the Annual General Meeting convened
for 8 July 2020.

A. MAJOR EVENTS AND CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

NOTE 1.

1.1. Major events
1.1.1. The acquisition of Bombardier
Transportation

Alstom announced on February 17", 2020 the signature of a
Memorandum of Understanding with Bombardier Inc. and the Caisse
de dépét et placement du Québec (“CDPQ”) in view of the acquisition
of Bombardier Transportation.

A unique opportunity to accelerate Alstom’s strategic
roadmap, Alstom in Motion

The acquisition of Bombardier Transportation is a one-time opportunity
coming at the right moment for Alstom, which has significantly
strengthened its operational and financial profile over the past four
years to accelerate its strategic roadmap and is complementary to
Alstom’s commercial and industrial platforms.

Price structure and financing

The price for the acquisition of 100% of Bombardier Transportation
shares will be €5.8 billion to €6.2 billion subject to Transportation’s
accounts and adjustment mechanisms at closing. In addition, Bombardier
Transportation’s net cash position at closing will be retained by Alstom
and, should Bombardier Transportation have a negative net cash position
as of 31 December 2020, the purchase price will be decreased on a
Euro-per-Euro basis.

Alstom has in place a fully committed financing structured with the
objective of maintaining Alstom’s strong credit profile and commitment
to its Baa2 rating. The consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the
Bombardier Transportation shares will be a mix of cash and new Alstom
shares. The total equity component of the financing will represent
approximately €5 billion, of which €2 billion will be raised on the market.

Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, CDPQ (which currently owns
32.5% of the Bombardier Transportation shares), will become the largest
shareholder of Alstom owning approximately 18% of its shares. Bouygues
will remain a large shareholder of Alstom owning around 10% of its
shares. Bouygues is fully supportive of the transaction and undertook to
vote in favour of the transaction-related resolutions at the Extraordinary
General Meeting (EGM).

MAJOR EVENTS AND MAJOR CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

Indicative timetable and next steps

Alstom’s unions indicated they will render their opinion around summer
2020 on the proposed takeover of Bombardier Transportation, according
to the “method agreement” reached with management. An EGM vote
on the reserved capital increases to CDPQ and Bombardier Inc. and
the rights issue should take place no later than 31 October 2020.
Subject to the EGM approval, rights issue will take place between the
second semester 2020 and first semester 2021 and the reserved capital
increases will take place at closing. The syndication of €2.4 billion Bridge
Facilities and a new €1.5 billion Revolving Credit Facility related to the
proposed acquisition of Bombardier was completed in April 2020 as
planned. The transaction will also be subject to clearance from relevant
regulatory authorities and anti-trust authorities. Closing is expected in
the first half of 2021.

The cost already incurred by the Group in relation with the Bombardier
Transportation acquisition during fiscal year 2019/20 have been
recognized in the net income (see Note 6).

1.1.2. Covid-19 pandemic

Covid-19 has been declared a pandemic by the World Health Organisation.
Alstom, as a leading player in the world rail transport industry, is making
every possible effort, within the national and international health
authorities’ guidelines, to ensure both the health of its employees as
well as the business continuity of its customers. Therefore, to follow the
directives of the government of the countries where Alstom operates,
the Group is adapting its working practices including temporary sites
shutdowns.

These actions result both in a reduction of activities in most production
and maintenance facilities as well as additional costs to fight and to
answer to the pandemic (safety costs, crisis cells to ensure business
and project continuity...).

All these inefficiencies and incremental costs incurred during the
fiscal year 2019/20, amounting to €24 million, are not included in the
percentage of completion formula and do not generate revenue. They
have been recognized in the primary statement of the income statement
under the caption cost of sales.
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So far, in relationship with these unexpected conditions and events,
the Group’s obligations on contracts did not result in any termination
of contract, late completion penalties or any litigations with clients or
suppliers.

Regarding the contractual commitments entered into by Alstom with
customers, suppliers and/or partners, the analysis of the impact of the
Force Majeure or similar clauses is currently on-going.

Alstom has taken also additional measures to bolster its liquidity by
implementing a new short-term Revolving Credit Facility of €1.750 billion
in April 2020 (see Note 28.5).

Moreover, impairment tests have been followed up closely on goodwill,
tangible and intangible assets with no risks identified at end of March
2020.

Finally, the Group’s exposure to credit risk on its operating activities
has led to no major reconsideration of the Expected Credit Losses on
customers at end of March 2020.

1.2. Scope of consolidation

1.2.1. Changes of the year

SpeedInnov

Through its affiliate SpeedInnov, a joint-venture created in 2015 with
ADEME, Alstom focused on its ‘Very high-speed train of the future’
project, aiming to promote a new generation of very high-speed trainset
which will reduce acquisition and operating costs by at least 20%,

(in € million)

optimise the environmental footprint and develop the commercial offer
to improve passenger experience. In this context, Alstom invested into an
increase in capital in this joint-venture for €36 million during June 2019
increasing its stake from 65.1% to 71.0% with no change in consolidation
method (Joint control).

1.2.2. Final purchase price allocation of previous
year change in scope

Electrovoz Kurastyru Zauyty LLP (EKZ)

As at 22 December 2017, Alstom signed an agreement with the Kazakh
national railway company (KTZ) to acquire their 25% stake in the EKZ
Joint Venture (JV) for €21 million, recognized in March 2018 Group
Financial Statement as non-current assets because of unmet suspensive
conditions. As at 25 February 2019, all the suspensive conditions have
been met and Alstom owns 75% of the shares, conferring the control
over the Kazakh company, which is specialized in the manufacturing
and the maintenance of electric locomotives especially for the Eurasian
Economic Union and CIS markets.

The preliminary purchase price allocation determined at 31 March 2019
has become final after last re-measurement of intangible assets (order
backlog margin (for projects) and customer relationships), and of
liabilities as well as deferred tax liabilities recognition. The reassessed
final goodwill amounts to €109 million (see Note 11) and is mainly
supported by the pipeline of opportunities on the Rolling stock business
in this geographic area as well as by expected future synergies between
EKZ and Alstom businesses.

25 February 2019

Total non-current assets 59
Total current assets 36
Total assets 95
Total non-current liabilities 20
Total current liabilities 139
Total liabilities 159

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE GROUP (64)

Consideration price 45
Goodwill 109
NTL Holding

In January 2019, Alstom bought the remaining 49% of NTL Holding. This holding was created in 2012 jointly with Bpifrance to acquire the “Translohr”
tramway on tires. Henceforth, Alstom owns 100% of the company and the consolidation method has been changed accordingly from equity to full
consolidation. The price allocation is now fully completed and generated no significant impact.
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B. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND USE OF ESTIMATES

NOTE 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1. Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

Alstom consolidated financial statements, for the year ended
31 March 2020, are presented in millions of Euros and have been
prepared:

® in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and interpretations published by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the European Union and
whose application was mandatory as at 31 March 2020;

with early apply of Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform, applicable for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2020 presented here after;

using the same accounting policies and measurement methods as
at 31 March 2019, with the exceptions of changes required by the
enforcement of new standards and interpretations presented here after.

The full set of standards endorsed by the European Union can be
consulted at:

http://www.efrag.org/Endorsement

2.2. New standards and interpretations
mandatorily applicable for financial
periods beginning on 1 April 2019

2.2.1. IFRS 16 “Lease”

IFRS 16 “Leases”, applicable for the exercises starting from 1 January
2019, introduces a single lessee accounting model for almost all lease
contracts under which a lessee is required to recognize a Right-of-Use
asset and a lease liability representing its present obligation to make
lease payments. IFRS 16 also substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting treatment. Accordingly, the Group, when lessor, will therefore
continue to classify its leases as finance leases or operating leases, and
to account for those two types of leases differently.

The Group adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” on 1 April 2019, according to the
simplified retrospective approach, without restatement of prior period
comparatives.

Any contract containing a lease leads to the recognition on the lessee’s
balance sheet of a lease liability measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments and a Right-of-Use asset measured at the
amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payment recognized in the balance sheet as
of 1 April 2019. The Group has elected to apply the two exemptions
proposed by the standard for leases with a term of less than 12 months
and/or leases of low-value assets.

Since the interest rate implicit in the leases cannot be readily determined,
discount rates are based on each lessee’s marginal borrowing rate. The
Group opted for the calculation method using discount rate per currency
and by duration. When applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group
has used discount rates based on the residual term of the lease at the
date of transition. The weighted average rate applied at the first-time
application was 1.45%.

The lease term used is the non-cancellable period of the lease, plus
any extension/early termination options that the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise.

For leases that were classified as finance leases under IAS 17, the Group
did not change the carrying amount of the Right-of-Use asset and the
lease liability as of 31 March 2019 measured under IAS 17.

The Group is reporting its results for the year 2019/20 applying this new

standard. The balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash

flows are amended accordingly as follows:

© |n the balance sheet, an asset related to the Right-of-Use is recognized
and recorded in property, plant, and equipment, while a corresponding
lease liability is recognized in financial debt in a dedicated line. Right-
of-Use leased assets mainly relate to land, buildings and offices as well
as industrial equipment, vehicles and other equipment (see Note 12).

In the income statement, the Right-of-Use asset is amortised either
in cost of sales or in administration costs and a financial expense
corresponding to the interest on the lease liability is recorded in
financial income and expenses, replacing the lease payments previously
charged to EBIT. The tax impact of this adjustment is recognized via
deferred taxes. Annual amortisation related to the new Right-of-Use
asset amounts to €(92) million for the year ended 31 March 2020.

In the cash flow statement, cash flows from operating activities are
impacted by interest expenses paid and cash flows from financing
activities are impacted by the reimbursement of the principal of lease
liability. Previously cash flows from operating activities were impacted
by the total of lease payments. Reimbursement of the principal related
to the new IFRS 16 lease liability impacting the financing cash flow
amounts to €84 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The IFRS 16 lease obligations are excluded from the net cash/(debt)
calculation for the Group, with a view to clarify its financial indicator
calculation.
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The table below presents the effects of application of IFRS 16 on the consolidated financial position at 1 April 2019 with no effect on equity.

(in € million)

IFRS 16 First Application

Property, plant and equipment
Other current operating assets)
TOTAL ASSETS

Lease obligations

TOTAL LIABILITIES

(*) It corresponds to prepaid expenses.

At initial application of IFRS 16, and in some cases, the value of Right-
of-Use assets may differ from the value of the liabilities due to offsetting
against existing provisions or as a result of valuation allowances.

At 1 April 2019, the difference between the financial liability measured
in accordance with IFRS 16 above and the future minimum lease
commitments reported as of 31 March 2019, amounting to €415 million,
is mainly due to the effect of discounting future lease payments, and to a
lesser extent, to an increase in the terms of the leases under consideration
and finally to the exclusion of short-term leases and low value leases
from the lease liability calculation.

2.2.2. IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over income tax
treatments”

In June 2017, the IASB released IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax
treatments. The interpretation clarifies the application of recognition
and measurement requirements in I1AS 12, Income Taxes, when there
is uncertainty over income tax treatments. In assessing the uncertainty,
an entity shall consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept the tax treatment, assuming that the tax authority has full
knowledge of all relevant information.

The Group has applied IFRIC 23 as of 1 April 2019, using the cumulative
effect method of adoption at the date of initial application, without
restating prior period information. The Group has recognized no impact
on consolidated shareholder’s equity following IFRIC 23 first time
application. Nevertheless, liabilities for uncertainty over income tax
treatments formerly included under non-current provisions have been
reclassified to current income tax liabilities for €122 million.

2.2.3. Other new standards and interpretations
mandatorily applicable for financial periods
beginning on 1 April 2019

The below amendments and Annual Improvements are applicable for

annual period beginning after 1 January 2019:

* amendments to IAS 19 “Plan Amendment, curtailment or settlement”;

* amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term interests in associates and joint
ventures”;

© Annual Improvements to the 2015-2017 IFRS Cycle.

These new pronouncements have no material impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3. New standards and interpretations

not yet mandatorily applicable

New standards and interpretations endorsed by the
European Union not yet mandatorily applicable

* Amendments to References to IFRS 9, IAS 39 & IFRS 7: Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform. The amendments will be applicable for annual
periods beginning after 1 January 2020.

Nevertheless, the Group has elected to early adopt these amendments.
The IBOR reform led by the IASB on the interest rates benchmark
will introduce the replacements of the EONIA and IBOR rates from
1 January 2022. This change will impact certain financial derivatives
instruments and hedge operations of the Group. In September 2019,
the IASB issued amendments providing relief to enable entities to
continue to use hedge accounting for LIBOR related hedges that
might otherwise need to be discontinued due to the LIBOR reform.
0On 31 March 2020, the Group exposure on financial derivatives
instruments indexed on floating rates with a maturity superior to the
1 January 2022 (Effective date of application of the amendments)
is null, however a strict policy has been set to monitor any future
evolution.

The amendments will be applicable for annual periods beginning
after 1 January 2020.

e Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS Standards. The amendments will be applicable for annual
periods beginning after 1 January 2020.

e Amendment to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. The amendment
will be applicable for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2020.

e Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of material. The
amendments will be applicable for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2020.

The potential impacts of these last amendments are currently being
analyzed.

New standards and interpretations not yet

approved by the European Union

* Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”:
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current. The amendments
will be applicable for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2023.

The potential impacts of all these new pronouncements are currently

being analyzed.



2.4. Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires management to make various estimates and to use
assumptions regarded as realistic and reasonable. These estimates or
assumptions could affect the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities, equity,
net income and contingent assets and liabilities at the closing date.
Management reviews estimates on an on-going basis using information
currently available. Actual results may differ from those estimates, due
to changes in facts and circumstances.

The accounting policies most affected by the use of estimates are the
following:

Revenue and margin recognition on construction
and long-term service contracts and related
provisions

The Group recognises revenue and gross margin on most construction
and long-term service contracts fulfilling the requirements for revenue
recognition over time, using the percentage of completion method
based on cost to cost: revenue is in that case recognized based on
the percentage of costs incurred to date divided by the total costs at
completion. Moreover, when a project review indicates a negative gross
margin, the estimated loss at completion is immediately recognised.

Recognised revenue and margin are based on estimates of total expected
contract revenue and cost, which are subject to revisions as the contract
progresses. Total expected revenue and cost on a contract reflect
management’s current best estimate of the probable future benefits
and obligations associated with the contract.

Assumptions to calculate present and future obligations take into account
current technology as well as the commercial and contractual positions,
assessed on a contract-by-contract basis (one performance obligation
corresponding in most cases to one contract). The introduction of
technologically-advanced products exposes the Group to risks of product
failure significantly beyond the terms of standard contractual warranties
applicable to suppliers of equipment only.

Obligations on contracts may result in penalties due to late completion
of contractual milestones, or unanticipated costs due to project
modifications, suppliers or subcontractors’ failure to perform or delays
caused by unexpected conditions or events. Warranty obligations are
affected by product failure rates, material usage and service delivery
costs incurred in correcting failures.

Although the Group makes individual assessments on contracts on a
regular basis, there is a risk that actual costs related to those obligations
may exceed initial estimates. Estimates of contract costs and revenues at
completion in case of contracts in progress and estimates of provisions in
case of completed contracts may then have to be re-assessed.

Estimate of provisions relating to litigations

The Group identifies and analyses on a regular basis current litigations
and measures, when necessary, provisions on the basis of its best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date. These estimates take into account information available and
different possible outcomes.
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Valuation of deferred tax assets

Management judgment is required to determine the extent to which
deferred tax assets can be recognised. Future sources of taxable income
and the effects of the Group global income tax strategies are taken into
account in making this determination. This assessment is conducted
through a detailed review of deferred tax assets by jurisdiction and
takes into account past, current and future performance deriving from
the existing contracts in the order book, the budget and the three-year
plan, and the length of carry back, carry forwards and expiry periods
of net operating losses.

Measurement of post-employment and other long-
term defined employee benefits

The measurement of obligations and assets related to defined benefit
plans makes it necessary to use several statistical and other factors that
attempt to anticipate future events. These factors include assumptions
about the discount rate, the rate of future compensation increases as well
as withdrawal and mortality rates. If actuarial assumptions materially
differ from actual results, it could result in a significant change in the
employee benefit expense recognised in the income statement, actuarial
gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income and prepaid
and accrued benefits.

Valuation of assets

The discounted cash flow model used to determine the recoverable
value of the group of cash generating unit to which goodwill is allocated
includes a number of inputs including estimates of future cash flows,
discount rates and other variables, and then requires significant judgment.

Impairment tests performed on intangible and tangible assets, as well
as Right-of-Use related to leased assets are also based on assumptions.
Future adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results
from underlying assets could result in an inability to recover their current
carrying value.

Inventories

Inventories, including work in progress, are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Write-down of inventories are calculated
based on an analysis of foreseeable changes in demand, technology or
market conditions in order to determine obsolete or excess inventories.
If actual market conditions are less favourable than those projected,
additional inventory write-downs may be required.

2.5. Significant accounting policies

2.5.1. Consolidation methods

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group exercises control.

The Group controls an entity when (i) it has power over this entity, (ii)
is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with
that entity, and (iii) has the ability to use its power over that entity to
affect the amount of those returns.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control is transferred to the Group
and deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company balances and transactions are eliminated.
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Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are identified in a specific line of the equity named “Non-controlling
interests”.

Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the
date of the original business combination and their share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. In the absence of explicit
agreements to the contrary, subsidiaries’ losses are systematically
allocated between equity holders of the parent and non-controlling
interests based on their respective ownership interests even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss
of control are considered as transactions between shareholders and
accounted for in equity.

Joint arrangements
Joint arrangements are the entities over which the Group has joint control.

The Group jointly controls an entity when decisions relating to the relevant
activities of that entity require unanimous consent of the Group and the
other parties who share control.

A joint arrangement is classified either as a joint operation or as a joint
venture. The classification is based on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the arrangement, taking into consideration the structure
and legal form of the arrangement, the terms agreed by the parties
in the contractual arrangement and, when relevant, other facts and
circumstances (see also Note 13):

Joint operations

Joint operations are entities in which the Group has rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities.

The Group recognises the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
related to its interests in the joint operation. A joint operation may be
conducted under a separate vehicle or not.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are entities in which the Group only has rights to the
net assets.

Interests in joint ventures are consolidated under the equity method as
described in the paragraph below.

Investments in associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
In other words, the Group has the possibility to participate in decisions
related to these entities’ financial and operating policies without having
control (exclusive or joint).

Generally, the existence of significant influence is consistent with a level
of voting right held by the Group between 20% and 50%.

If need be, accounting policies of associates will be standardized with
the Group accounting policies.

Interests in associates are consolidated under the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements as described in the paragraph below.

Equity method

The Group accounts for its interests in associates and joint ventures
under the equity method. Wherever necessary, accounting policies of
associates and joint ventures have been changed to ensure consistency
with the IFRS framework.
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Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost, including any goodwill arising and
transaction costs. Earn-outs are initially recorded at fair value and
adjustments recorded through cost of investment when their payments
are probable and can be measured with sufficient reliability.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the associate or joint venture recognized at the date of acquisition
is recognized as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of
the investment.

In case of an associate or joint venture purchased by stage, the Group
uses the cost method to account for changes from non-consolidated
investments category to “Investments in joint ventures and associates”.

Associates and joint ventures are presented in the specific line
“Investments in joint ventures and associates” of the balance sheet,
and the Group’s share of its associates’ profits or losses is recognized in
the line “Share of net income of equity-accounted investments” of the
income statement whereas its share of post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognized in reserves.

Losses of an associate or joint venture in excess of the Group’s interest
in that associate or joint venture are not recognized, except if the Group
has a legal or implicit obligation.

The impairment expense of investments in associates and joint ventures
is recorded in the line “Share of net income of equity-accounted
investments” of the income statement.

According to IAS 28, if the financial statements of an associate used in
applying the equity method are prepared as of a different date from that
of the investor, adjustments shall be made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the
investor’s financial statements. In any case, the difference between the
end of the reporting period of the associate and that of the investor shall
be no more than three months.

According to IFRS 9, liquidity rights related to Energy alliances are
booked at fair market value without external model based on observable
factors, taking into account internal assumptions. These put options
are considered and accounted for by the Group as share derivatives
under cash flow hedge. These liquidity rights are accounted for as part
as the joint venture caption on the line “investments in joint-ventures
and associates”.

2.5.2. Assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale are presented on a separate line of
the balance sheet when (i) the Group has made a decision to sell the
asset(s) concerned and (ii) the sale is considered to be highly probable.
These assets are measured at the lower of net carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

When the Group is committed to a sale process leading to the loss of
control of a subsidiary, all assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
reclassified as held for sale, irrespective of whether the Group retains a
residual interest in the entity after sale.



2.5.3. Cash flow hedge

When cash flow hedge applies, the portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is
recognized in other comprehensive income.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently resulting in the
recognition of a non-financial asset qualifies for cash flow hedge, then
the entity shall reclassify the associated gains and losses that were
recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed
affects profit or loss.

2.5.4. Translation of financial statements
denominated in currencies other than euro

Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which a reporting entity operates, which in most cases, corresponds
to the local currency. However, some reporting entities may have a
functional currency different from local currency when that other currency
is used for the entity’s main transactions and faithfully reflects its
economic environment.

Assets and liabilities of entities whose functional currency is other than
the euro are translated into euro at closing exchange rate at the end of
each reporting period while their income and cash flow statements are
translated at the average exchange rate for the period.

The currency translation adjustments resulting from the use of different
currency rates for opening balance sheet positions, transactions of
the period and closing balance sheet positions are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Translation adjustments are transferred to
the consolidated income statement at the time of the disposal of the
related entity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of
entities whose functional currency is not euro are designated as assets
and liabilities of those entities and therefore denominated in their
functional currencies and translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period.

2.5.5. Business combinations

Business combinations completed between the 1 January 2004 and the
31 March 2010 have been recognised applying the provisions of the
previous version of IFRS 3.

Business combinations completed from the 1 April 2010 onwards are
recognised in accordance with IFRS 3R.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary is the sum of fair values of the assets transferred and
the liabilities incurred by the acquirer at the acquisition date and the
equity-interest issued by the acquirer. The consideration transferred
includes contingent consideration, measured and recognized at fair
value at the acquisition date.

For each business combination, any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree may be measured:

either at the acquisition-date fair value, leading to the recognition
of the non-controlling interest’s share of goodwill (full goodwill
method) or;

either at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets, resulting in recognition of only the
share of goodwill attributable to equity holders of the parent (partial
goodwill method).
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Acquisition-related costs are recorded as an expense as incurred.

Goodwill arising from a business combination is measured as the

difference between:

e the fair value of the consideration transferred for an acquiree plus the
amount of any non-controlling interests of the acquiree and;

e the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date.

Initial estimates of consideration transferred and fair values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are finalised within twelve months
after the date of acquisition and any adjustments are accounted for as
retroactive adjustments to goodwill. Beyond this twelve-month period,
any adjustment is directly recognised in the income statement.

Earn-outs are initially recorded at fair value and adjustments made
beyond the twelve-month measurement period following the acquisition
are systematically recognised through profit or loss.

In case of a step-acquisition that leads to the Group acquiring control
of the acquiree, the equity interest previously held by the Group is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

2.5.6. Sales and costs generated by operating
activities

Measurement of sales and costs

The amount of revenue arising from a transaction is usually determined

by the contractual agreement with the customer. IFRS 15 provides

restrictive guidance on the transaction price estimates and especially

on variable consideration and contract modifications.

The estimation of the transaction price should include variable amounts
and/or contract modifications to the extent that it is highly probable that
no significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenues recognized
will occur when the uncertainty associated with these elements is
subsequently resolved. The introduction of this constraint on the price
escalation estimate on the one hand, as well as the incorporation of
amendments under negotiation on the other hand, leads to recognize
these effects on contract value at a later point in time, when they
become enforceable.

In the case of “construction contracts” claims are considered in the
determination of contract revenue only when it is highly probable
that the claim will result in additional revenue and the amount can be
reliably estimated.

Penalties are first taken into account as an increase of contract costs
and in a second step as a reduction of contract revenue as soon as they
are accepted.

Finally, a significant financial component should be introduced positively
or negatively on revenue, when timing of cash receipts and revenue
recognition under cost to cost method differ substantially.

Production costs include direct costs (such as material, labour and
warranty costs) and indirect costs. Warranty costs are estimated on the
basis of contractual agreement, available statistical data and weighting
of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities. Warranty
periods may exten